

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Talent Management Strategies for Managing Employee Career Advancement at Fortune 500 Companies

Kimberly Chennel Burke Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Kimberly Burke

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Olivia Herriford, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Talent Management Strategies for Managing Employee Career Advancement at Fortune
500 Companies

by

Kimberly Burke

MS, Webster University, 2013

BS, Florida A&M University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2022

Abstract

The focus on attracting talent versus an internal focus on advancing talented employees has become costly for corporations. Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies need to advance the careers of internal employees to achieve their business objectives. Grounded in the path-goal theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the talent management (TM) strategies senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage the career advancement of internal employees. Methodological triangulation was used to analyze data collected from semistructured interviews and company documentation. The participants were six Fortune 500 leaders in the United States Midwest region who successfully managed internal employees' career advancement. Yin's five-phase approach was used for data analysis. Five themes emerged: provide mentorship, conduct one-on-one meetings, create individual development plans, encourage continuing education, and provide internal job shadowing. A key recommendation is for senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies to provide formal mentoring programs that connect employees with mentors to help develop their professional skills. The implications for positive social change include the potential for senior leaders to help their employees contribute financially to their families and support the local job market.

Talent Management Strategies for Managing Employee Career Advancement at Fortune 500 Companies

by

Kimberly Burke

MS, Webster University, 2013
BS, Florida A&M University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my angel baby, Asha Chennel Thomas. I almost gave up on life when Asha passed away, but GOD. I am forever grateful to have birthed a tiny human and held her for three months. Thank you, Princess Asha, for awakening my authenticity to finally tap into my personal power.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express gratitude to my committee chairperson, Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles; my second committee member, Dr. Oliva Herriford; and my university research reviewer, Dr. Janet Booker for providing valuable feedback about my research study that led me to goal achievement. I give special thanks to my academic advisor, Sarah Hendrickson, for encouraging me and providing valuable program resources. I would also like to thank my writing coach, Dr. Christy Fraenza, for providing detailed feedback during my literature review process and helping me become a scholarly writer. I am forever grateful to each participant who shared their knowledge with me in this doctoral study to help me achieve my goal.

I am thankful God created me with willpower to achieve all of my life goals. As a first-generation Doctor, I hope I have made my family proud, especially my parents (Kelvin and Corean) and my sister (Kassie). I am forever grateful to my business bestie, Dr. Alyce Herndon, who guided me along my doctoral journey with a detailed action plan and checked on me regularly with support and praise. Thanks to my peer mentor, Dr. Kenneth Coble, for his countless support to help me make adequate decisions for my research study. Special thanks go to JPC for being my champion and helping me edit my doctoral study. I give my deepest appreciation to each of my besties and sisters of Delta Sigma Theta Sorority, Incorporated for supporting me through this process, especially during the darkest moments I experienced during this program. Also, I appreciate my associates within my social network who have encouraged me to get to the finish line.

Table of Contents

Se	etion 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	3
	Assumptions	3
	Limitations	3
	Delimitations9)
	Significance of the Study)
	Contribution to Business Practice)
	Implications for Social Change)
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature)
	Path-goal Theory	l
	Alternative Theories	5
	Talent Management Strategies	3
	Career Advancement 22	2

Leadership at Fortune 500 Companies	31
Talent Management Strategies to Manage Career Advancement	37
Transition	41
Section 2: The Project	42
Purpose Statement	42
Role of the Researcher	42
Participants	45
Research Method and Design	46
Research Method	46
Research Design	48
Population and Sampling	49
Ethical Research.	51
Data Collection Instruments	52
Data Collection Technique	54
Data Organization Technique	57
Data Analysis	58
Reliability and Validity	60
Reliability	60
Validity	61
Transition and Summary	64
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	65
Presentation of the Findings	65

Theme 1: Provide Mentorship	68
Theme 2: Conduct One-On-One Meetings	80
Theme 3: Create Individual Development Plans	88
Theme 4: Encourage Continuing Education	92
Theme 5: Provide Internal Job Shadowing	96
Applications to Professional Practice	98
Implications for Social Change	100
Recommendations for Action	101
Recommendations for Further Research	102
Reflections	103
Conclusion	104
References	106
Annendix A: Interview Protocol	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Information of the Participants	67
Table 2. Emerged Themes of Talent Management Strategies	68
Table 3. Subthemes of Provide Mentorship	700
Table 4. Subthemes of Conduct One-On-One Meetings	83
Table 5. Subtheme of Create Individual Development Plans	889
Table 6. Subthemes of Encourage Continuing Education	92

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Talent management (TM) strategies are important to manage the careers of employees. Senior leaders who invest in the career development of employees will be successful in having a talent pipeline to advance a corporate hierarchy (Bagdadli & Gianecchini, 2019; Whysall et al., 2019). However, senior leaders must first understand the nature and context of the career pathway of each individual employee (Crowley-Henry et al., 2019). When employees at Fortune 500 companies are led properly with TM strategies, they can advance along their career paths. This study explored TM strategies senior leaders use, specifically at Fortune 500 companies, with the goal of improving career advancement of internal employees.

Background of the Problem

Both attracting and retaining talented employees have been challenging for Fortune 500 companies. Some companies search externally for the right talent, instead of promoting internal employees to fill key positions (Lagat & Makau, 2018). When this happens, companies lack a global vision of tapping into talented internal employees to achieve business objectives and address skill shortage problems (Napathorn, 2020; Ramli et al., 2018). There are many strategies for TM, but an important focus should be on the talent of internal employees versus acquiring new talent (Pirzada et al., 2021; Theys & Schultz, 2020). Building a leadership pipeline within an organization starts with training internal employees for executive roles (Griffith et al., 2019; Kasdorf & Kayaalp, 2021; Whysall et al., 2019). As such, it is necessary that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use TM strategies to manage career advancement for internal employees.

Companies that are proactive about having a TM strategy in place promote internal employees. TM is a concept that is attracting more research due to its strategic nature and an evolving workforce, so there is a need for further research on implementing TM strategies and its impact at organizations (Al Aina & Atan, 2020; Chawla & Agarwal, 2021; Claus, 2019; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Bonneton et al. (2019) noted further research is needed to link career-related TM strategies to individual career success. While there is research in TM literature regarding TM strategies, there is a lack of clear guidelines for employee career advancement (Pirzada et al., 2021). The intent of this qualitative multiple case study is to contribute to the development of the TM field by identifying the TM strategies senior leaders use to manage the careers of internal employees. The results of this study may help senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies adopt TM strategies to improve how they promote internal employees for career advancement within the organization.

Problem and Purpose

Talent management (TM) has become scarce and when not done is costly for corporations, but many senior leaders fail to manage the careers of internal employees (Adeniji et al., 2019, p. 255). A study conducted by Boštjančič and Slana (2018) indicated 38% of companies have an inclusive TM process to manage employee careers and develop their talents (para. 25). The general business problem is senior leaders fail to manage career advancement for their internal employees, which impacts business objectives. The specific business problem is that some senior leaders at Fortune 500

companies lack TM strategies to manage career advancement for their internal employees.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the TM strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. The targeted population was six senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies from four industries in the Midwest region of the United States who have implemented successful TM strategies to manage career advancement for their internal employees. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for senior leaders to develop TM strategies to help their individual employees contribute financially to their families and support the job market of the communities where their companies are located.

Population and Sampling

The target population selected for this study included six senior leaders from four Fortune 500 companies in the Midwest region of the United States. I used purposive sampling to select participants who have successfully used TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees. All but two of the companies involved in the study included two participants leading similar departments. Each participant had over 5 years of leadership experience. Zoom video conferencing was used to interview participants using a semistructured interview process. Using six senior leaders from different companies led to richer data to address the research question. I also reviewed relevant company documentation to answer the research question.

Nature of the Study

Researchers can use quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods to gain insights into problems, products, services, consumers, and opinions (Bryson, 2015). The quantitative research method uses statistical data to test theory or develop theory (Saunders et al., 2015). Researchers use the quantitative methodology to examine variables' characteristics or relationships by collecting data from surveys or secondary records (Saunders et al., 2015). The qualitative research method, on the other hand, is an in-depth study using nonnumerical data by exploring phenomena between people and constructed meanings (Saunders et al., 2015). Researchers operate in natural settings when using the qualitative methodology. Third, the mixed-methods approach uses both quantitative and qualitative methods to analyze findings of a study (Saunders et al., 2015). I did not use the quantitative or mixed-methods approach because testing a hypothesis or interpreting statistical relationships among variables was not necessary for conducting this study. The qualitative method was most appropriate for exploring the talent management strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for employees.

I considered three qualitative research designs: (a) phenomenology, (b) narrative inquiry, and (c) case study. Researchers use the phenomenological design to focus on the meanings of lived experiences of participants (Yin, 2018). I did not use the phenomenological design because the study did not focus on the phenomena of the meanings of participants' lived experiences. Narrative designs focus on participants sharing chronological life stories of their experiences (Saunders et al., 2015). The

narrative design was not suitable because the study did not focus on participants' life stories. The case study design provides an in-depth evaluation of a research problem (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the multiple case study design to gain a deeper analysis of the phenomena from multiple sources and perspectives than the single case study design from an internal source (Yin, 2018). I used a multiple case study design to explore the talent management strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. The case study design has been widely used in business management and allowed me to investigate real-life settings through the interview process. I was able to gather detailed information from participants responses to open-ended questions and reviewed company documents to answer the research question.

Research Question

What TM strategies do senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees?

Interview Questions

- 1. What are some TM strategies you have implemented that have proven to be effective in advancing your employees' careers?
- 2. To what extent do you focus your TM strategies on developing employees to their full potential to meet their career goals?
- 3. What key challenges have you experienced in implementing TM strategies for employee career advancement?

- 4. How did you address the key challenges you experienced in implementing TM strategies for employee career advancement?
- 5. What knowledge have you gained about TM strategies from current employees who foresee advancing their careers at your company?
- 6. How, if at all, have you adapted or changed your TM strategies to support employees in the pursuit of their career goals?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share concerning how you manage the careers of your employees using TM strategies?

Conceptual Framework

The path-goal theory, originated by House (1971), was the conceptual framework for this study. According to the path-goal theory, leaders can influence their employees' work goals, personal goals, and paths to goal achievement (House & Mitchell, 1975). House proposed that leaders who change their leadership behaviors can increase their employees job performance and satisfaction towards reaching their goals within the company (House, 1971). There are four leadership behaviors in the path-goal theory that leaders can use to be more effective. The four leadership behaviors are directive, supportive, participative, and achievement-oriented leadership (House & Mitchell, 1975).

The four leadership behaviors exemplify different attributes. When leaders use directive actions, they let employees know exactly what is expected of them with set standards of performance (House & Mitchell, 1975). Within the supportive behavior, leaders are friendly and approachable while recognizing the well-being of their employees (House & Mitchell, 1975). Participative leaders value the opinions of their

employees before making decisions (House & Mitchell, 1975). When leaders use achievement-oriented actions, they set challenging goals for their employees and have confidence that employees will perform consistently at a high-level (House & Mitchell, 1975). Leaders can embody all four of these leadership behaviors (House & Mitchell, 1975). The path-goal theory was the conceptual framework used to identify and explore the TM strategies used by senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies that were specific to both business objectives and career advancement for their employees.

Operational Definitions

The following are some terms used within Fortune 500 companies that might need clarification by those outside talent management.

Career advancement: Career advancement is the opportunity employees have to get promoted within a company from entry level positions to other job preferences (Petry et al., 2021).

Internal employee: An internal employee is a permanent employee of a company who receive benefits and can earn an opportunity to be promoted (Zafar Sheikh et al., 2021).

Senior leader: A senior leader is responsible for leading a team of other leaders in a company to achieve business objectives (Reimer et al., 2018).

Talent management: Talent management is a strategic process designed to attract, develop, and retain employees to meet business objectives (Samanta & Eleni, 2021).

Talent management strategies: Talent management strategies are practices used to manage employee performance and career growth (Mtethwa, 2019).

Talented employee: A talented employee is effective at performing work tasks, and they help increase the productivity and profitability of an organization (Al Aina & Atan, 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are statements assumed to be true by researchers, but have not been validated (White, 2018). There were two assumptions that impacted this study. The first assumption was that study participants would answer all questions in detail and provide honest answers regarding the research question, and this assumption was confirmed. The second assumption was confirmed in that the study participants did provide company documentation relevant to the research question.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses of the study that are beyond the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). There were two limitations that did not impact this study. The first limitation was that participants may not be able to share confidential information about company practices related to the research question. I explained to participants their answers were confidential and participants felt comfortable answering the research question. The second limitation was that senior executives have time limitations that may curtail availability for interviews. Zoom video conferencing allowed participants flexibility with scheduling interviews and each interview had positive interactions.

Delimitations

Delimitations are research boundaries intentionally set by the researcher (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). There were two delimitations that impacted this study. The first delimitation was the selection criteria of senior leaders who work for Fortune 500 companies in the Midwest region of the United States. I selected participants who met the selection criteria and agreed to participate in this research study. The second delimitation was the selection of the path-goal theory over other theories that may be applicable to career advancement. I only used the path-goal theory to investigate the phenomenon to answer the research question.

Significance of the Study

The findings from this study may impact the use of TM strategies senior leaders use to manage career advancement of internal employees and contribute to positive social change. The insights and awareness about what TM strategies work to advance employees careers and how those TM strategies contribute to business objectives may enhance a company's talent pipeline and competitive advantage. The results from this study could further improve senior leaders' understanding of how career advancement is both professional and personal growth. The findings from this study may be significant enough to gain the interest of senior leaders who believe in creating positive work environments where employees are developed and positioned to have satisfying careers.

Contribution to Business Practice

The use of TM strategies provides opportunities for corporations to revive and make systematic changes for future endeavors (Painter et al., 2019). A potential

contribution of the study to business practice may be the retention of talented employees. Employees are more committed to stay with their organizations when they feel leaders in the organization care about their development and advancement within the company (Almaaitah et al., 2020). Employees value professional growth within their organizations. Implementing TM strategies to retain talented employees can help sustain the talent pipeline within organizations and may further lead to an overall improvement in achieving business objectives.

Implications for Social Change

When senior leaders use TM strategies, the implications for positive social change may begin with happy, satisfied employees, who are fairly compensated and recognized for their work. Leaders who empower and enable their employees build employees' confidence in the job performance which leads to job satisfaction (Bourini et al., 2019). When employees are supported, they feel they can thrive at work and are excited to share their career success to mentor others. Setting and reaching career goals is a motivator for employees to become role models for other individuals who want to advance in their careers (Andresen et al., 2020). When employees have a fulfilling career, they feel empowered and enabled to give back to their communities by volunteering their time to connect to the lives of others—for example by mentoring young people pursing similar careers.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore TM strategies senior leaders use to manage career advancement of internal employees. The targeted

population consisted of senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies in the Midwest region of the United States. The literature review includes an analysis of existing literature on the topic of TM strategies and how it is applied in Fortune 500 companies. At the beginning of the literature review, I discussed the conceptual framework, the path-goal theory. The leadership behaviors outlined in the path-goal theory were analyzed for applicability to the specific business problem along with relevant literature on TM strategies and the aspects related to the career advancement of internal employees.

Organization of the Literature Review

I organized the academic literature review beginning with expanding upon the conceptual framework, the path-goal theory. I also reviewed relevant literature on TM strategies, career advancement, and leadership at Fortune 500 companies.

Research Strategy

I conducted a comprehensive review of the academic literature, and most studies were published within the last 5 years, between 2018 and 2022. I analyzed 138 scholarly sources, 131 (95%) sources were peer reviewed, and seven sources (5%) were seminal publications before 2018 or not peer-reviewed sources. I used the Walden Online Library, Wiley Online Library, and Google Scholar to select sources for my literature review. Additionally, Ulrichsweb was used to verify peer-reviewed journals.

Path-goal Theory

The path-goal theory was the conceptual framework used to explore the TM strategies senior leaders apply to manage the career advancement of internal employees. The path-goal theory, originated by House (1971), focuses on a leader's behavior. A

leader's behavior can affect how an employee perform their job duties and determine an employee job satisfaction (House, 1971). The path-goal theory identifies how leaders influence their employees with a clear path to achieve universal goals (House & Mitchell, 1975). There are four leadership behaviors in the path-goal theory: (a) directive, (b) supportive, (c) participative, and (d) achievement-oriented leadership (House & Mitchell, 1975). The use of the path-goal leadership theory allows leaders to provide support to their employees, when needed, to help complete complex tasks (Adoli & Kilika, 2020; Rana et al., 2019). Leaders can use the path-goal theory to convey clear expectations and requirements for employees interested in advancing in the organization (Deshwal & Ashraf Ali, 2020). The path-goal theory describes how leaders can help their team achieve company goals and motivate them to excel (Adoli & Kilika, 2020; Sujana, 2020). Lagat and Makau (2018) agreed that the path-goal theory emphasizes a leader's influence to lead their employees by having a positive outlook on company goals. A leader's personal performance may have the power to motivate their employees to complete job tasks (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). Leaders who use the path-goal theory are tasked with enhancing employee performance and satisfaction (Magombo-Bwanali, 2019). Understanding the path-goal theory can be helpful to senior leaders as they manage the career advancement of internal employees. The four leadership behaviors in the path-goal theory hereunder describes how leaders can apply each leadership behavior.

Directive

The first leadership behavior in the path-goal theory is directive. According to Mustofa and Muafi (2021), directive leadership behavior is described as supervision with

structure and control. This leadership behavior is valuable when job roles and tasks are not clearly identified for employees (House & Mitchell, 1975). Directive leaders operate a workplace where they can effectively guide their employees on what tasks need to be completed and there is minimal ambiguity associated with employee workflow (Adoli & Kilika, 2020; Dokony et al., 2020). Although directive leadership can be valuable, it can be discouraging if employees want the autonomy to be innovative with their work (Hoang et al., 2019). Dokony et al. (2020) supports this point of view by stating the directive leadership behavior can be viewed as a manipulative approach and that employees do not favor leaders who are directive. The directive leadership behavior may be used by leaders who do not know how to properly train their team on job roles.

Supportive

The second leadership behavior in path-goal theory is supportive. This leadership behavior is helpful when the workplace is stressful and prevents positive workflow from employees (House & Mitchell, 1975). A supportive leader is approachable and provides their employees with a positive work experience (Rana et al., 2019). Supportive leaders provide their employees with emotional support (Lam et al., 2021), which Mustofa and Muafi (2021) described as listening and appreciating. Lam et al. (2021) stated that supportive leaders create a company culture of collaboration, trust, and learning. Supportive leaders also use coaching techniques when they clarify specific work tasks to help their employees (Huang, 2019). The supportive leadership behavior is used by leaders who enjoy assisting their teams.

Participative

The third leadership behavior in path-goal theory is participative. Participative leadership behavior is important when employees are particularly involved in their work and are opinionated (House & Mitchell, 1975). A participative leader collaborates with their employees to help them make decisions (Rana et al., 2019). Leaders who use the participative leadership behavior can encourage employees to use their voices and be a part of making decisions within the team (Dokony et al., 2020). Leaders can gain more commitment from employees if they apply participative leadership behavior (Dokony et al., 2020). Leaders who use participative leadership behavior welcome team opinions before making final decisions that impact the team.

Achievement-oriented

The final leadership behavior in path-goal theory is achievement-oriented. This leadership behavior is important when employees work in competitive work environments, such as technical or sales job roles, or work for entrepreneurial business owners (House & Mitchell, 1975). Achievement-oriented leaders provide goals to their employees that are clear and challenging, with an expectation of increased job performance (Dokony et al., 2020; Sujana, 2020). Achievement-oriented leaders like to reward their employees when they have reached their performance goals and it results in more effective employees (Dokony et al., 2020). The achievement-oriented leadership behavior is used by leaders who like to keep track of their team's progress and remind them of expectations.

A leader can choose to use one or all four leadership behaviors in the path-goal theory. Each leadership behavior in the path-goal theory can be tailored to the unique circumstance of the leader-employee relationship. Leaders are responsible for defining the business goals for their employees and enable them to create their own career paths (Yoon et al., 2021).

The path-goal theory has evolved since its introduction. The evolution of the path-goal theory focused on leader effectiveness by adding leadership behaviors to the original four, for a total of eight (House, 1996). The four leadership behaviors added were (a) work facilitation, (b) group-oriented decision process, (c) work group representation and networking, and (d) value-based actions (House, 1996). The four extended leadership behaviors focus on group responses to achieving goals. A leader's behavior changes based on the environment of the organization (House, 1996). An example of this is when leaders work in positive environments that support their ability to lead their teams versus working in negative environments where leaders are micromanaged on how they lead their teams. It is still the leader's responsibility for helping employees reach their career goals and some leaders may even reward employees for doing so (House, 1996).

Alternative Theories

Leaders need to adapt and be willing to change their behavior when they are leading others. Hersey and Blanchard (1969) developed the situational leadership model so that leaders can accurately identify the needs of their followers and support them. Situational leaders lead based on their environment (Price-Dowd, 2020). The situational leadership model allows leaders to choose the best leadership style given the situation to

lead their teams (Mustofa & Muafi, 2021; Raza & Sikandar, 2018; Seidel et al., 2019). Similar to the path-goal theory, the situational leadership model is used to encourage employees.

Transformational leaders lead with motivation to enhance the performance of their employees (Price-Dowd, 2020). Transformational leaders express the essential engagement between leaders and followers (Burns, 1978). Løvaas et al. (2020) concur transformational leaders use prosocial motivation to help encourage their employees. Transformational leaders have high expectations for employees and constantly encourage them to achieve their goals (Zhang et al., 2021). Transformational leaders also help employees understand company values that may help employees identify career goals at the organization (Busari et al., 2019). Transformational leaders emphasize the importance of employees doing exceptional work and being engaged with others at the company (Sulistiyanto & Murtini, 2018). Transformational leaders have charisma and are more likely to persuade their employees to pursue organizational goals and objectives (Khattak et al., 2020). Transformational leaders also use their charisma to inspire employees to make a commitment to reaching company goals (Khattak et al., 2020; Steinmann et al., 2018). Løvaas et al. (2020) posited transformational leaders also increase employee creativity and innovation. The transformational leadership theory is similar to the pathgoal theory by motivating employees to consistently do well.

Leaders also provide rewards to their employees when they achieve excellent job performance. Burns (1978) created the transactional leadership theory to use a rewards-based system to improve employee performance. The achievement-oriented leadership

behavior of the path-goal theory requires leaders to provide clarity of flow and give rewards when employees have accomplished tasks, consistent with transactional leadership (Sulistiyanto & Murtini, 2018). Leaders who apply the achievement-oriented leadership behavior provides employees with a path-goal transaction where they tend to do their jobs well, knowing a reward will be given to them (Crews et al., 2019). Leaders use the transactional leadership approach to get their employees to complete tasks quickly and transactional leadership can be compared to the path-goal directive leadership behavior.

Choosing the best leadership style to manage the career advancement of employees can be complex. The laissez-faire leadership approach gives employees the autonomy to complete work that is most effective for them (Baig et al., 2019). Leaders who use the laissez-faire leadership style gives employees few rules and provide little to no direction (Price-Dowd, 2020). Laissez-faire leaders have a passive leadership approach by avoiding making key decisions and taking responsibility for their teams (Baig et al., 2019). Team members can complete their daily workflow to meet deadlines without laissez-faire leaders getting involved (Sousa & Rocha, 2019). The laissez-faire leadership approach can have a negative impact on employee performance (Baig et al., 2019). For example, some employees might need leaders to provide them clear direction on daily job tasks so they can perform well in their job role. The laissez-faire leadership approach is a contrasting theory of the path-goal theory that leaders can consider using.

Talent Management Strategies

A shift must occur in how senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies view TM and how senior leaders use TM strategies to manage employee careers. The concept of TM emerged over 100 years ago, and researchers are still trying to comprehend TM effectiveness for the workplace (Chawla & Agarwal, 2021; Pirzada et al., 2021; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). The TM process is about attracting and developing employees to reach their full potential while benefiting companies (Chawla & Agarwal, 2021; Samanta & Eleni, 2021). Some companies use TM to focus only on talented people within their organization and how they complete business objectives (Glaister et al., 2018; Johnson et al., 2019; Kabwe et al., 2020). Some leaders at companies focus on the career development of talented employees, but TM requires leaders to focus on the career development of all employees (Pandita & Ray, 2018; Samanta & Eleni, 2021). Using key TM strategies to develop employees can strengthen businesses (Johnson et al., 2019) and provide companies the best human capital within their organizations to maintain a competitive edge (Crowley-Henry & Al Ariss, 2018; Crowley-Henry et al., 2019; Jose, 2019). Gallardo-Gallardo et al. (2020) proposed that there is a gap between what employees view as TM strategies and why their leaders provide them. Therefore, leaders need to ensure employees understand how they are using TM strategies for their benefit.

There are several ways TM literature define how TM strategies should be used for employees, specifically employees who are talented. Defining the concept of TM and how organizations see people as talent is still unclear in the literature (Cross Walker, 2020; Farndale et al., 2019; Jooss et al., 2019; Kichuk et al., 2019; Sparrow, 2019). The

shift in how senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies effectively view TM can begin with senior leaders identifying who and what is being considered as talent within the organization (Meyers et al., 2020; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Kabwe et al. (2020) postulated that talent comes from an employee, but the company in which an employee works for acquires that talent and can use it for their advantage. Talent can be defined as a natural characteristic and potential of a person (Jooss et al., 2019; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Tyskbo (2019) stated that organizations define talent by their own company culture. A company's culture may affect how employees will demonstrate their talents (Mitosis et al., 2021; Tyskbo, 2019). Some companies view all employees as talent versus dividing employees in different talent pools (Harsch & Festing, 2020). These studies illustrate that there are competing definitions for talent and a clear definition is still needed.

Leaders understanding of what *talent* is differs. Ansar and Baloch (2018) argued that talent and TM have distinct meanings and need a uniform definition in academia and corporations. Gallardo-Gallardo et al. (2020) agrees that more research needs to be conducted to provide a broader context in the field of TM. Tyskbo (2019) also proposed that future researchers focus on gaining an understanding of TM strategies used by senior leaders for employees' career progress, since most TM literature currently focuses on how human resource management (HRM) departments attract and retain employees. Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies need to rethink how they view talent and resolve any problems with the use of TM strategies for career development of employees (Johnson et al., 2019; Painter et al., 2019; Tyskbo, 2019). Creating a clear definition of

the word talent may help senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies understand how to manage the career advancement of internal employees.

Talent management is a function of HRM departments at companies. Yildiz and Esmer (2021) stated TM is a subprocess of HRM. HRM focuses on the operational approach of attracting, training, and managing employees in a company to achieve its business objectives and TM focus on how employees use their skills to meet the company's business objectives (Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). The TM process should not be an HRM-only function since most company's culture is to have high performing employees (Theys & Schultz, 2020). Leaders can review the TM process at their companies and may consider evaluating TM as a separate function. Kabwe et al. (2020) challenged the way companies use TM strategies and assumed that leaders only use it to control employees instead of empowering them in the workplace. The goal of TM is to identify and develop employees with talent so that they can become future leaders (Kabwe et al., 2020; Whysall et al., 2019). Additionally, TM is about placing people in roles that fit their skills (Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Companies must change their current TM strategies to meet the needs of their employees (Claus, 2019). The TM approach used by leaders will determine how they advance employee careers at their companies.

Talented Employees

Talented employees are valuable resources to an organization, and leaders should focus on retaining employees at companies (Almaaitah et al., 2020; Azizi et al., 2021).

There are talented employees within every organization, but leaders are overlooking them based on their perspective of talent (De Boeck et al., 2018; Ramli et al., 2018). Meyers et

al. (2020) surveyed a group of human resource (HR) managers located in different countries about talent philosophies. The results of the study indicated only 10-15% of employees are commonly identified as being talented and are provided opportunities to develop their potential at corporations (Meyers et al., 2020). Griffith et al. (2019) emphasized that leaders lacked appropriate TM strategies to discover and develop potentially talented employees. Harsch and Festing (2020) revealed that some leaders expect employees to prove themselves with exceptional job performance for at least 3 years before they can be identified as a talented employee. Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies may need to consider a new approach to determining who are talented employees within their organization.

Talented employees are more likely to receive development and career opportunities at companies. Companies invest in talented employees through TM developmental programs (De Boeck et al., 2018). Given development opportunities, talented employees are more likely to feel valued and they are committed to stay with their company (Jayaraman et al., 2018; Pandita & Ray, 2018; Pirzada et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2021). Aguinis and Burgi-Tian (2021) recommended that companies conduct stay interviews with talented employees. An example of this is when a senior leader meets with an employee who has shown interest in leaving and they persuade them to stay by providing incentives and making them feel valued.

Senior leaders should advance the careers of talented employees by matching them with key positions (Al Aina & Atan, 2020). Otherwise, talented employees may feel they are being used if not given proper placements (King & Vaiman, 2019; Mtethwa,

2019). Companies who value developing talented employees have standardized career paths for them to follow, which allows employees to plan how to advance their careers (Griffith et al., 2019; Harsch & Festing, 2020). TM should encourage leaders to create a career path with all internal employees to strengthen their skillsets to effectively achieve business objectives (Theys & Schultz, 2020). All internal employees should have the opportunity to advance to a position within the organization that fits their skills and abilities.

Career Advancement

Career advancement can address TM challenges Fortune 500 companies are facing. There is a gap in literature that connects TM strategies to career advancement (Crowley-Henry et al., 2019). Literature about TM strategies has focused on companies maintaining a competitive edge versus advancing the careers of internal employees (Claus, 2019). Kharadze et al. (2019) identified 34.8% of survey participants who worked at corporations in Tbilisi believe they cannot achieve maximum success in their organizations. Leaders have a vital role in selecting internal employees for open opportunities (Harsch & Festing, 2020). Companies may need to implement new TM strategies to help employees advance their careers (Harsch & Festing, 2020; Mitosis et al., 2021). Leaders who understand the career goals of their employees can synchronize them to benefit company goals and, at the same time, prepare them for career advancement (Adeniji et al., 2019; Hitka et al., 2019; Otto et al., 2021). Houssein et al. (2020) added that career development is one of the best factors to retain employees. Thus,

companies that believe they are responsible for advancing the careers of their employees can start by having a positive work environment that fosters career growth.

Positive Workplace

Employees want to work in positive environments that promote career growth. The use of TM strategies in a positive and healthy work environment can motivate employees to stay with their companies (Mitosis et al., 2021). Employees are more likely to stay with their companies when they feel that there are good career opportunities available for them and they continue to be happy doing their jobs (Rasheed et al., 2020). Kähkönen et al. (2021) noted employees want to work for companies that have a good public reputation. Ashraf (2019) added that employees enjoy working for companies that has a culture of career growth. Employees who find intrinsic values in their job tasks versus extrinsic values tend to be satisfied with their companies (Ashraf, 2019; Pandita & Ray, 2018). A positive workplace is conducive to employees' growth and can help keep them engaged.

Employee Engagement and Retention

Engaged employees are more likely to be retained. Employee engagement is when employees feel they are personally aligned with a company's values and stay involved in company activities because they are satisfied (Li et al., 2021). Engaged employees believe in the company's culture and attend corporate events (Staniec & Kalińska-Kula, 2021). Employees who are dissatisfied with their job role and do not believe they have job security will begin to make decisions about changing their career (Sullivan & Al Ariss, 2021). Thus, the level of employee engagement is an important factor for leaders

to determine the likelihood of commitment to the company (Badshah & Bulut, 2020; Houssein et al., 2020; Mtethwa, 2019; Pandita & Ray, 2018). This means employee engagement affects a company's retention rate because the more active an employee is in the workplace may indicate an intent to stay with the company. Employees may need to reconsider their involvement in company activities as they seek to advance their careers.

Career Success

Some employees want to be successful in their careers while benefiting their company. Walsh et al. (2018) defined career success as an employee's happiness at a company. Benson et al. (2020) provided several definitions for career success, such as employees continually being recognized for their job performance, being promoted with an increase in pay, and having the opportunity to share their expertise with others in the workplace. While some employees do not believe their organization care about their career success, it's hard for organizations to agree on one specific factor that determines employee's career success (Kichuk et al., 2019; Yagüe-Perales et al., 2021). Kharadze et al. (2019) identified 30.7% of survey participants who worked at corporations in Tbilisi have lateral career moves, and 32.9% of survey participants experience vertical career moves. This means employees have more career advancement opportunities moving up the company hierarchy. Employees are more likely to advance their careers internally than externally because they learn key internal skillsets where they become subject matter experts (SMEs) at their organization (Kharadze et al., 2019). SMEs are internal employees who have mastered job tasks at a company (Capitano et al., 2021). An example of this is when an employee has personal knowledge of how to complete job

tasks in the most efficient manner. SMEs also use knowledge transfer, which is when a person shares their knowledge with others (Cross Walker, 2020). Knowledge transfer helps employees be recognized for their transferable skills (Bartz, 2019). Employees who have transferable skills could possibly get offered a new position faster. How employees identify career success should be considered when leaders are supporting employee career advancement.

Mentoring

Leaders who want their employees to do well mentor them. Enoch and Mohana (2021) defined mentoring as a process where senior leaders build a relationship with a protege (employee) and provide career guidance, access to a bigger network, and psychosocial directions to help the protege advance both personally and professionally. Blake-Beard et al. (2021) explained mentoring as a mentor-mentee relationship where the mentor has more professional experience than a mentee and commits to guiding the mentee to become an emerging leader at the company. Lin et al. (2021) supports this point and identified that senior leaders who mentor employees take a personal interest in their work. The mentor goal is to use their experience to teach their mentee how to navigate their new career from start to finish (Samanta & Eleni, 2021). Epitropaki et al. (2020) indicated that 29.1% of information and communication technology professionals located in several European countries had a mentor within their organization. Enoch and Mohana (2021) identified 74.2% of information and technology employees located in Chennai reported their mentor was their immediate supervisor. Mentors can be outside of the mentees organization and still teach the mentee how to make valuable decisions that

will propel them to the next level in their career that can last a lifetime (Bell & Rosowsky, 2021). Mentorship is vital for career advancement and mentors can even become sponsors for their mentees.

Sponsorship

Leaders who foresee an employee's success at their company can sponsor them for career advancement. Gray et al. (2019) defined sponsorship as senior leaders promoting the careers of high-potential and high-performing employees within their company. Lin et al. (2021) added sponsorship provides essential career-related support for mentees' promotion in the workplace. Leaders who provide sponsorship to employees give additional resources needed for career development (Epitropaki et al., 2020). Kharadze et al. (2019) discovered 33.8% of survey participants who worked at corporations in Tbilisi believed that their career advancement happened through sponsorship. Career sponsorship from a senior leader will enhance an employee's persona and they are more likely to be sought after at the company for open positions (Bonneton et al., 2019; Epitropaki et al., 2020). Gray et al. (2019) concluded that sponsorship has a direct impact on an employee's career compared to mentorship. An example of this direct impact is when a sponsor knows the hiring manager and can guarantee their mentee gets an interview. A mentor may only be able to provide resources on how a mentee can prepare and apply for open positions with no control on guaranteeing them an interview. Thus, employees can advance in their careers if their senior leaders sponsor them to the next level.

Coaching

Coaching employees allows them to take the lead with their careers. Samanta and Eleni (2021) defined career coaching as an informal agreement between the coach and coachee where they create a specific plan with a deadline to achieve goals. Coaching is an effective TM practice to help employees with career progression and should be used globally at corporations (Mangion-Thornley, 2021; Samanta & Eleni, 2021). Coaching employees to create their own strategic plan for their career path is essential to their professional journey.

Career Path

Employees should have a career path that allows them advancement opportunities within their organization. Advancing the careers of internal employees is known as a traditional career path where an employee prefers to wait for a new job opportunity at their company, which provides them job security (Hirschi & Koen, 2021). TM has evolved where companies have a central role in helping employees create a career path (Crowley-Henry et al., 2019; Gallardo-Gallardo et al., 2020). Leaders have the power to help employees create a rewarding career path (Lagat & Makau, 2018). Zeijen et al. (2020) suggested leaders cannot assume how an employee may feel about their professional growth at a company. Employees who want to advance at a company should share their career goals with leaders (Yoon et al., 2021). Employees should also create specific short- and long-term goals to advance their careers (Bartz, 2019; Kichuk et al., 2019). Employees can help advance their careers by clarifying their personal values through goal setting and execution planning (Hirschi & Koen, 2021). Additionally,

leaders should do their best to understand an employee's goals at the company (Crowley-Henry et al., 2019). Employees should have a clear career path that helps a company meet their business goals, which is beneficial for both employee and company (Enoch & Mohana, 2021; Mtethwa, 2019; Otto et al., 2021). Once leaders understand an employee career path, it is imperative that they help them attain their career goals with regular goal-performance feedback (Locke & Latham, 2019). Leaders may use a career-discovery strategy that involves meeting with employees to understand employee career goals (Li et al., 2021). An example of a career-discovery strategy is when leaders meet with employees to ask questions about their expectations of their job role and how employees want to be developed within the company. Leaders should meet with their employees regularly to discuss the employees career path.

Adapting to career change can be beneficial to employees' career paths. Employees who adapt to changes within their careers are more successful (Delle & Searle, 2020). Employees must also be prepared to manage any changes if societal conditions affect their career path (Andresen et al., 2020). An example of a societal condition is COVID-19 and the affect it may have had on employees' opportunities for job promotions.

Job Promotion

When an employee is certain about advancing their career, they begin to explore job promotion opportunities. Vuong et al. (2020) defined job promotion as the progress of upping expertise, rank, and position in a job role at a company. Kilson (2021) found having a bachelor's degree can help employees get a job promotion faster than others

who do not have a degree, this may not always be the case. Some internal employees believe job promotions are owed to them for longevity at a company (Ngan & Tze-Ngai Vong, 2019). These employees believe years worked in a role better qualifies them for a promotion over a newer employee regardless of education. Kharadze et al. (2019) identified only 46.6% of survey participants who worked at corporations in Tbilisi believed that investing in higher education will increase the likelihood of a job promotion. This may mean most internal employees at corporations do not believe an advanced degree prepares them for job promotion opportunities.

Employees do not have to wait on their leader to offer them a job promotion. Self-promotion is the most common career-related outcome for an individual who wants to advance their career (Al-Shatti & Ohana, 2021). An example of self-promotion is when an employee takes control of their career by telling their leader they are interested in a promotion (Sibunruang & Kawai, 2021). An employee self-regulating how they want their career to develop may have a better chance getting promoted (Hirschi & Koen, 2021). Some employees need assurance their company is committed to helping them advance their careers and asking for a job promotion can lead to understanding the next steps they should take.

When an employee decides to change positions, they may seek external opportunities as well as internal opportunities. The timing of a job promotion is vital to an internal employee and may determine if the employee remains with the company (Kichuk et al., 2019; Ngan & Tze-Ngai Vong, 2019; Otto et al., 2021; Peltokorpi & Michel, 2021; Theys & Schultz, 2020). Some companies have administrative limitations

on advancing internal employees for job promotions (Napathorn, 2020). Companies with limited open positions may have difficulty advancing internal employee careers. A job promotion may also be difficult for an internal employee who has already reached a high-earning job role, which may cause them to seek advancement of their career at another company (Bonneton et al., 2019; Otto et al., 2021). When an employee has communicated, they are ready to advance in a company, they begin to prepare for career transition.

Career Transition

Senior leaders need to effectively communicate how internal employees can successfully transition into a new job role. A career transition occurs when a person changes their job role (Sullivan & Al Ariss, 2021). Employees can have career transitions at one company or have several career transitions with multiple companies (Sullivan & Al Ariss, 2021). van Harten et al. (2021) noted that career management literature is still unclear on how leaders manage employee career advancement at companies. There are some approaches leaders can use to help internal employees with a successful career transition. Providing internal employees with additional organizational resources as they transition into a new job role can be a way leaders help employees produce valuable work (Federici et al., 2021). The training and development an internal employee receive can give them the opportunity to work efficiently and be acknowledged for their job performance (Kasdorf & Kayaalp, 2021; Sullivan & Al Ariss, 2021). Having access to a leader's direct network is an important factor in helping employees transition their careers (Sibunruang & Kawai, 2021). An example of a leader's direct network is when

leaders connect employees with other leaders within the company to determine if they may be more suited for a different job role.

There are some approaches leaders should avoid for an employee career transition. Providing an unpaid internship is an unsuccessful career transition approach (Brook et al., 2020). No employee should have to work for free to prove they are worthy of getting a new position; employees should be compensated for completing tasks for a company. Another unsuccessful career transition approach leaders should avoid is discrimination towards employees who want to advance their careers (Sullivan & Al Ariss, 2021). Leaders should try to avoid using unsuccessful approaches when helping employees with career transitions.

Leadership at Fortune 500 Companies

Many people who wish to excel in their career fields seek out Fortune 500 companies. Fortune 500 companies, which includes multinational corporations (MNCs), can offer more career opportunities to employees compared to smaller companies and they have the capabilities to provide opportunities to internal employees for career advancement (Bonneton et al., 2019; Gupta & Briscoe, 2020; Hathaway, 2020; Kilson, 2021). Most Fortune 500 companies have been operating for an average of 17 years and this duration period can be sufficient for employee career growth (Shet, 2021). Research studies about career advancement primarily discusses the leadership of chief executive officers (CEO) at Fortune 500 companies and often omits other senior leaders who have a direct impact on developing employees. Senior leaders are responsible for employee's career progression at a company (Yoon et al., 2021). Companies need senior leaders who

are charismatic and effective in developing employees with strategic TM strategies to maintain a competitive edge in their industries (Pirzada et al., 2021). Given the reasoning above, Fortune 500 companies are in a key position to advance the careers of internal employees and they can start by effectively communicating the company's business objectives with employees.

Business Objectives

Understanding a company's business objectives is critical to an employee's career advancement. Corporations are guided by their business objectives, which are specific and measurable goals organizations put in place to grow the company (Ehrenberg, 2021). Internal employees are key assets to helping corporations meet business objectives (Staniec & Kalińska-Kula, 2021). The keys to a company's achievement of business objectives are maximizing shareholder value (Inkpen & Sundaram, 2021; Signori et al., 2021). Leaders must have a good understanding of company business objectives to effectively communicate them to employees (Inkpen & Sundaram, 2021; Yoon et al., 2021). Once employees have a clear understanding of a company's business objectives, they are in a better position to advance their careers.

Performance Reviews

Employees are evaluated based on their job performance at corporations.

Performance reviews are when an employee is fairly assessed by their leader on an annual basis on how well they achieved their work tasks as it relates to the company's business objectives (Kharadze et al., 2019; Soltani & Wilkinson, 2020; Theys & Schultz, 2020). Leaders meet with employees one-on-one to go over their performance the prior

year and agree on next steps for the upcoming year. Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies who are innovative in developing employees focus on the utilization of performance reviews to help them make key decisions about an employee's growth (Kremer et al., 2019). Leaders who provide performance reviews throughout the year can help their employees stay on track to achieve their career goals (Ngan & Tze-Ngai Vong, 2019). The frequency of performance reviews is vital to an employee's career progression, providing an accurate account of their performance. Senior leaders should take the time to schedule performance reviews throughout the year to discuss employee's performance aligned with business objectives (Napathorn, 2020). When leaders take the time to discuss employee performance, it may create a strong leader-employee relationship.

Leader-employee Relationships

Employees may benefit from having open communication about career advancement with their leaders. Leaders who have open communication with their employees can build relationships where knowledge is shared to complete business objectives (Kremer et al., 2019; Mtethwa, 2019). If there is a lack of communication between employees and leaders, it can be difficult for leaders to understand the value employees bring to strengthening the company (Mtethwa, 2019; Paiuc, 2021; Vuong et al., 2020). When there is a lack of communication between leaders and employees, it is the leaders' responsibility to improve communication (Kähkönen et al., 2021; Mtethwa, 2019). Leaders may need to encourage their employees to voice concerns about the workplace without employees fearing retaliation (Kähkönen et al., 2021; Liao et al.,

2019; Mtethwa, 2019). Employees often can tell if their leader is interested in their concerns about the company.

Leader-employee relationships may take time to develop. Leaders can start to develop trust with their employees by having weekly meetings to discuss tasks and provide feedback on performance (Rofcanin et al., 2020). Leader-employee relationships are strongest when they have regular face-to-face interactions in the workplace rather than communicating via email or by phone (Braun et al., 2019). Leaders who consistently communicate with their employees have a greater probability of building a relationship with their employees and understanding what they need to be successful (Nyberg et al., 2021). Communication standards in the workplace will eventually become obsolete due to the use of technology and remote working, but the use of technology will not replace personal communication, being key to building relationships (Jaiswal et al., 2021; Paiuc, 2021). Leaders can conduct and review company surveys to understand the employees' thoughts and concerns to improve communication in the workplace (Staniec & Kalińska-Kula, 2021). When employees are led by leaders who value open communication, employees can cultivate the work relationship.

Leader Support

Some leaders may not be prepared to support internal employees towards career advancement. Some employees perceive leaders as unsupportive, disrespectful, and unable to provide career development opportunities in the workplace (Kasdorf & Kayaalp, 2021; Kichuk et al., 2019). Some employees have also revealed that the lack of leader support was due to leadership's limited knowledge of essential job functions

(Kasdorf & Kayaalp, 2021). Leaders may need additional training on how to support employees in the workplace. Employees sometimes find weekly check ins with coworkers are more beneficial than meeting with leaders for support (Rofcanin et al., 2020). Some employees may get angry when leaders provide them with mundane job tasks which prevent them from focusing on other job skills that may help with career development (Zhou et al., 2018). Leaders need to understand how their lack of support affects employee's career development.

There are several ways leaders can best support employees with their career advancement. Leaders may need to be trained on humility to promote employee career growth (Liu et al., 2021). An example of humility training can include leaders listening to and understanding an employee's perspective about career goals. Leaders can also support employees by acknowledging their value within the company and encouraging them to advance their careers (Leroy et al., 2021). Once leaders acknowledge the value of employees, they may begin to provide them with career advancement opportunities (Sibunruang & Kawai, 2021). Leaders should also share their own stories of career development to encourage employees who seek career growth (Lambert, 2020; Shet, 2021). Leaders should invest in their own personal and professional development when leading a team.

Succession Planning

Most Fortune 500 companies have succession plans. Succession planning is the process companies use to fill vacant positions due to retrenchment, resignation, retirement, or death (Abioro et al., 2020). Ali et al. (2019) simplified the definition of

succession planning as the process of smooth leadership transitions. Succession planning is vital to ensure there are no prolonged searches when filling key positions at a company (Abioro et al., 2020; Ali et al., 2019). A succession plan should be in place at a company to also prepare for unexpected loss of talent. A succession plan is an element of TM strategy that provides leaders with a list of internal employees who are next in the talent pool to fill key job roles (Napathorn, 2020). Employees perform better when they know their jobs are secured through the company's succession plan (Ali et al., 2019; Essman et al., 2021). An example of an employee performing better can be when an employee takes on more job tasks in preparation for a leadership role. Leaders can manage succession planning at their company by developing internal employees with TM strategies (Mitosis et al., 2021). Succession planning may be an important TM strategy that can help advance employees' careers.

Leadership Development Programs

Most Fortune 500 companies use leadership development programs (LDPs) to advance the careers of employees. A LDP is a corporate-level TM strategy where employees are trained for leadership positions at a company (Napathorn, 2020). LDPs enhance an employee's current skillset and prepares them for future leadership roles (Enoch & Mohana, 2021). Napathorn (2020) examined a banking institution's LDP which consisted of recent college graduates instead of internal employees. While some companies focus on hiring external employees, internal employees can also be selected for an LDP. LDPs may require employees to perform job rotations. Employees complete job rotations to become cross-trained in other areas at the company, which prepares them

to quickly fill a variety of open positions (Samanta & Eleni, 2021). Bonneton et al. (2019) examined a MNC that ran a LDP where candidates entered an 18-month program of training and development, and three job rotations in different countries and departments. LDPs offer cross-cultural training to prepare employees to become global leaders who can be placed in roles in other geographical areas (Subrahmanyam, 2019). Kragt and Day (2020) stated that employees are likely to advance their careers after completing corporate LDPs. LDP programs have been cited as great resources for internal employees to advance their careers.

Companies that offer LDPs are likely, but not guaranteed, to retain employees. Bonneton et al. (2019) conducted a study with one MNC in Europe, which involved surveying and interviewing a control group of HR managers about TM and career management. The results of the study were that 24% of LDP participants left the MNC after completing the program (Bonneton et al., 2019). Some employees will receive training and development from a company but will leave if career opportunities are not quickly provided (Theys & Schultz, 2020). Some employees may leave a company after completing a LDP due to a lack of available leadership positions and dissatisfaction of current job role (Bonneton et al., 2019). Companies must be proactive by having open positions available for LDP participants after they complete the program.

Talent Management Strategies to Manage Career Advancement

Leaders who manage employees with specific TM strategies enhance the employee's professional development. As such, the use of TM strategies can help leaders identify who their talented employees are and groom them towards career success

(Aljbour et al., 2021; Bonneton et al., 2019; Widodo & Mawarto, 2020). Leaders should develop their employees to guarantee adaptability to their career growth and motivate them to be more effective in their work performance and achievement of company goals (Adeniji et al., 2019; Delle & Searle, 2020). Shet (2020) suggested that leaders use TM strategies that build employees skills necessary for global job roles. Macro-TM is an approach where leaders strategically develop internal employees and place employees in global job roles (King & Vaiman, 2019). The use of this approach may help leaders understand how to manage employees who seek to advance their careers globally. An example of a leader using the macro-TM approach may be advancing the career of a billingual employee to gain an advantage in another country.

There are proactive TM strategies leaders can use to manage the careers of internal employees. A TM strategy that leaders can use is to focus on teamwork and an employee's individualization (Theys & Schultz, 2020). For example, a leader can allow an employee to display their strengths leading a team project. Another successful TM strategy for employee career advancement is ensuring employees understand their value at the company (Mtethwa, 2019). A leader may help employees understand their value by communicating how their job tasks meet business objectives. Other TM strategies leaders can use for employee career advancement include performance updates, training and development, succession planning, and retention strategies (Mtethwa, 2019). Bonneton et al. (2019) suggested leaders can use TM strategies, such as mentoring, coaching, shadowing senior leaders, job rotations, and training and development to advance the careers of internal employees. Training and development of internal employees are key

TM strategies that should be used by leaders (Kasdorf & Kayaalp, 2021; Li et al., 2021; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Some companies offer training and development to internal employees who are eager to develop their skills and have leadership potential (Theys & Schultz, 2020). When leaders train and develop their employees, they may provide employees with transferable skills they can use in other departments at the company. Kichuk et al. (2019) discovered that the careers of employees at corporations who were involved in training and development courses progressed faster compared to employees who were not offered those courses. Leaders may use these proactive TM strategies to provide career advancement opportunities to internal employees.

There are numerous TM strategies leaders can use to develop employee career advancement. Aljbour et al. (2021) identified six TM practices that may help advance the careers of employees: (a) talent planning, (b) talent acquisition, (c) talent development, (d) talent performance management, (e) talent engagement, and (f) talent retention. There were also three dominant TM practices used to manage employee careers: (a) talent acquisition, (b) talent development, and (c) talent retention (Aljbour et al., 2021). These three dominant TM practices suggest that leaders can provide employees with developmental resources to hire, grow, and retain them. Aljbour et al. (2021) also discovered that TM practices affect positive employee outcomes, including (a) employee retention, (b) organizational citizenship behavior, (c) intention to stay, (d) affective commitment, (e) employee engagement, and (f) career success. Leaders may choose any of these TM practices to help advance the careers of employees.

Talent management, career advancement, and COVID-19

The 2020 coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic affected the way senior leaders used TM strategies. TM challenges increased during the COVID-19 pandemic and many corporations had to adjust employees job roles, freeze salaries, and some employees even had to take pay cuts (Aguinis & Burgi-Tian, 2021). Performance appraisals were not used by many corporations during the global pandemic, which ultimately means employees were not provided information on career advancement opportunities (Aguinis & Burgi-Tian, 2021). The U.S. Bureau of Labor and Statistics (2021) data showed that 13.2% of people in the United States teleworked because of COVID-19. This may have been some employees' first time working from home. Youn et al. (2021) suggested that telework allowed employees to use technology to communicate efficiently with colleagues, developing skillsets that can be used for professional development. Despite the COVID-19 crisis, companies need to continue utilizing TM strategies that demonstrate leaders care about employees' career growth (Azizi et al., 2021). There are still ways for leaders to support employees with career opportunities during a global pandemic, leaders just need to know which practices work best.

Yoon et al. (2021) suggested seven TM practices companies should implement to advance the careers of internal employees during COVID-19. The seven TM practices include: (a) take care of basic needs, (b) facilitate development, (c) develop and maintain network, (d) facilitate adaptions to change, (e) communicate effectively, (f) facilitate work engagement and productivity, and (g) support career transitions (Yoon et al., 2021).

The use of these practices may be beneficial for employees who are still working during a global pandemic. Employees can also start to control the trajectory of their careers by engaging in self-care practices that supports their mental health (Yoon et al., 2021). An example of this is when employees take deep breaths, relax, and think about positive things happening in their life (Vera et al., 2020). All these TM strategies can assist leaders promoting employees' physical wellbeing as well as their career advancement during a global pandemic.

Transition

In Section 1, I provided the background of this proposed study, research question, conceptual framework, and a comprehensive review of recent academic about TM strategies and how senior leaders manage career advancement for internal employees. Section 2 conveys my role as a researcher with details about data collection and data analysis, participants, research method and design, and state the ethical standards of this study. Section 3 includes the findings, business practice and contribution to positive social change, recommendations, and future research opportunities.

Section 2: The Project

The focus of this qualitative multiple case study was to understand what TM strategies senior leaders use to manage the careers of internal employees. Section 2 includes (a) restatement of the purpose statement, (b) role of the researcher, (c) the participants, (d) research method and design, (e) population and sampling, (f) ethical research, (g) data collection instruments, (h) data collection techniques, (i) data organization techniques, and (j) data analysis. I conclude this section with an explanation of the procedures I used to ensure the reliability and validity of the study and a transition to Section 3.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the TM strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. The targeted population comprised of six senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies from four industries in the Midwest region of the United States who have implemented successful TM strategies to manage career advancement for their internal employees. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for senior leaders to develop TM strategies to help their individual employees contribute financially to their families and support the job market of the communities where their companies are located.

Role of the Researcher

The primary role of the researcher is to identify suitable organizations, gain access to potential participants and build trust, and collect data to conduct a research

study (Saunders et al., 2015). The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in the data collection process (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). I was the primary data collection instrument and conducted semistructured interviews for this research study.

Qualitative researchers often have experience in the research topic when conducting research studies (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020). As a former leader at a Fortune 500 company in the Midwest, I have worked with senior leaders who are passionate about advancing the careers of employees. Having worked for 5 years in a management role and leading a small team, I value developing employees and I am interested in learning more about this research topic. I did not seek participants with whom I had worked or had a relationship at my previous organization.

Researchers must understand the importance of ethics when conducting research studies. Most business and management research studies generally involve human participants (Saunders et al., 2015). My role as the researcher was to follow the basic ethical principles outlined in *The Belmont Report* to safeguard and protect human subjects and provide an equal opportunity for all participants (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I abided by *The Belmont Report* guidelines and conducted interviews in a safe environment, obtained informed consent, and ensured participants knew they could opt out of the research study at any time. Additional approval to conduct interviews must be granted by a research ethics committee before researchers can start the data collection process (Saunders et al., 2015). Before conducting the research, I received approval by the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB).

Researchers may experience research bias when conducting a study. Research bias occurs when researchers allow factors to influence the way they accurately record participant responses in a research study (Saunders et al., 2015). Although I am familiar with the research topic, it was important to not interpret data from a personal lens.

Researchers can mitigate bias by keeping detailed notes and retaining all documents during the data collection and data analysis process (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). I mitigated researcher bias by effectively documenting participant responses and retained all documentation and recordings. Researchers use reflexivity to exclude researcher bias by identifying assumptions prior to conducting research studies (Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). Researchers can use reflective journals to mitigate basis by taking notes about their experience during the research process (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I also mitigated bias by taking reflective notes in a research notebook during the research process and avoided viewing data through a personal lens.

Interviews allows participants to verbally share open-ended responses instead of completing a written questionnaire (Saunders et al., 2015). I mitigated bias by following an interview protocol guide (Appendix A) to maintain fairness for participant interviews. Researchers use interview protocols as a strategy to be organized and to code participant information consistently during an interview (De Block & Vis, 2019; O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021). Further, member checking is a common method researchers use to validate participant data (De Block & Vis, 2019; Husband, 2020; Yin, 2018). I conducted member checking after each participant interview to ensure participant responses were accurately interpreted.

Participants

The eligibility criteria for selecting interview participants were (a) participants must be a senior leader at a Fortune 500 company in the Midwest region of the United States, and (b) participants must use TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees. I used purposive sampling to select six senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies from four industries who have successfully used TM strategies to manage the career advancement of internal employees. Purposive sampling is when researchers make the decision to select participants, or cases, they believe will best answer the research question (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). This criterion ensured selected participants had the experience to answer the research question for this study.

As a former leader at a Fortune 500 company, I have a professional network of senior leaders that provided me access to potential participants for this study. Researchers may use existing contacts to develop new contacts as a strategy to gain access to potential participants (Saunders et al., 2015). I used my professional network of leaders at Fortune 500 companies to gain access to other senior leaders who meet the participant eligibility criteria. Once the connection was made, I requested an initial virtual meeting using video conferencing applications, such as Zoom. Meeting participants beforehand helped me gain their trust and ensure their comfort participating in the study. The goal of the virtual meeting was to (a) share my purpose for conducting this study, (b) build trust and credibility with participants, (b) acquaint them with privacy and withdrawal information, and (c) get participants consent to be a part of this study. Saunders et al. (2015) mentioned researchers' familiarity with an organization and credibility are strategies to

gain access to participants. Gaining trust from participants allowed me to share the purpose of the research study and get approval to collect data to use in the study.

Research Method and Design

Researchers select a research method and design to conduct research studies (Bryson, 2015; Saunders et al., 2015). There are different methods and designs researchers can use to obtain research results (Saldaña, 2014). I used the qualitative method and multiple case study design to explore the TM strategies senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for internal employees.

Research Method

Researchers use one of the three fundamental research methods when conducting a study: (a) quantitative, (b) qualitative, or (c) mixed methods (Bryson, 2015). Qualitative researchers conduct research studies to understand participants perspectives about a phenomenon (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015). A quantitative researcher focuses on numerical data to gain insights about a research study (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015). Mixed method researchers conduct research studies using both quantitative and qualitative methods to understand complex phenomenon's (Noyes et al., 2019; Yin, 2018; Yousefi Nooraie et al., 2020). I used the qualitative research method for this study.

Qualitative researchers use descriptive responses from participants for an in-depth study (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015; Yousefi Nooraie et al., 2020). Köhler et al. (2019) described qualitative researchers as glorified reporters of participants' experiences. Qualitative researchers can collect data from participants via interviews, focus groups, observations, or through documentation (Noyes et al., 2019). Qualitative

researchers can use more than one data collection technique when conducting research studies (Saunders et al., 2015). Qualitative researchers also review all data collected from participants and categorize data into themes to discover new concepts (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). The qualitative method of gaining an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon supports how to answer the research question for this study. I used the qualitative research method to collect data in an in-depth interview setting to have participants share open-ended responses that focus on the research question. I also asked participants to share company documentation related to this study.

Quantitative researchers use statistical data to examine the relationship between variables in a research study (Saunders et al., 2015). Quantitative researchers also hypothesize what must be measured in advance when conducting studies (Noyes et al., 2019). It was not the intent of this study to test a hypothesis to answer the research question, so the quantitative method was not used. Mixed-method researchers use a combination of quantitative and qualitative techniques to conduct a research study (De Block & Vis, 2019; Noyes et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015; Yousefi Nooraie et al., 2020). Mixed-method researchers solve for complex cases that need substantial evidence (Noyes et al., 2019). The mixed-methods approach of using both narrative and numerical data was not appropriate to provide an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon for this study.

Research Design

Research designs are the approaches researchers use to collect data for research studies (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). I considered three qualitative research designs:

(a) phenomenology, (b) narrative inquiry, and (c) case study. Case studies allow researchers to investigate real-life settings of participants in the present moment where data can be collected in numerous ways (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015; Wohlin, 2021; Yin, 2018). Researchers do not have an active role in the case while documenting research findings (Wohlin, 2021). Using a case study design, researchers use multiple data collection techniques for an in-depth investigation of the research problem (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015; Wohlin, 2021). Case study research designs can be single or multiple cases where participants share their knowledge and experiences with the researcher (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). I used a multiple case study for this study. A single case study would have limited my research findings to one Fortune 500 company, but by using a multiple case study it allowed me to gain more evidence from multiple Fortune 500 companies using replication logic.

Phenomenology research design focuses on participant's lived experiences (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). A phenomenological researcher conducts more than one interview with participants to document their stories in its entirety for data collection (Saunders et al., 2015). The use of multiple interviews is only one way to collect data and qualitative researchers often use multiple data collection techniques (Wohlin, 2021). I did not use the phenomenology research design for this study because multiple data collection techniques were used to identify the TM strategies senior leaders use to

manage career advancement of internal employees. The narrative inquiry research design focuses on participant's sharing stories in chronological order to capture a comprehensive perspective (Saunders et al., 2015). I did not use the narrative inquiry research design because an individual chronological story was not needed to learn what TM strategies senior leaders use to manage career advancement of internal employees.

Qualitative researchers must ensure data saturation within their studies. Data saturation happens when a researcher does not obtain any new thematic information from participant interviews (De Block & Vis, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Data saturation is achieved when reoccurring themes are shared by multiple participants that answers the research question (Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). I achieved data saturation in this study by having in-depth interviews with participants until no new information or themes emerged. I also used methodological triangulation to analyze data collected from semistructured interviews and company documentation.

Population and Sampling

The target population selected for this study included six senior leaders at four Fortune 500 companies in the Midwest region of the United States. The criteria for selecting interview participants were (a) participants must be a senior leader at a Fortune 500 company in the Midwest region of the United States, and (b) participants must have successfully used TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees. I used purposive sampling to select six senior leaders who have successfully used TM strategies to manage the career advancement of internal employees. Purposive sampling is when a researcher selects the appropriate participants and cases that meets the criteria of

answering the research question (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Yousefi Nooraie et al. (2020) suggested that researchers target the best populations rather than randomly sample a population for a research study. Senior leaders who did not successfully implement TM strategies to manage the career advancement of internal employees were not eligible for participation in this study.

The sample size for this study was six senior leaders. In-depth interviews should have a sample size between five to 25 participants (Saunders et al., 2015). From the sample size of six senior leaders, I selected select two senior leaders from two of the four Fortune 500 companies and one senior leader from the other two companies. Each senior leader agreed to participate in the study. Qualitative researchers select a small sample size to gain an in-depth understanding about research studies (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Selecting four Fortune 500 companies allowed me to study data from four cases to have an in-depth understanding of the research problem. Qualitative researchers focus on the quality of data received from its sample size through data saturation (Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Given the sample size for this study, I interviewed each participant until no new information or replication of trends were shared and data saturation was achieved.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, participant interviews were completed virtually using Zoom video conferencing, instead of an in-person interview setting. Researchers may use internet-mediated research to conduct qualitative studies (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Virtual interviews are an alternative to face-to-face interviews during a global pandemic. Additionally, Zoom video conferencing allowed

participants to feel safe participating in this study. Each participant interview was audio recorded through Zoom software, which allowed me to transcribe interview data. I conducted participant interviews in a location free from distractions and encouraged participants to do the same.

Ethical Research

Researchers must assure the ethical protection of participants when conducting research studies (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). Walden University's institutional review board (IRB) has standards researchers must follow before conducting ethical research. The IRB approval number for this study was 05-05-22-1023938. The informed consent process requires the researcher to share ethical principles with participants about the research study (Saunders et al., 2015; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). As the researcher, I emailed the informed consent form to participants five days prior to their scheduled interview so they could decide to fully participate in the research study. The informed consent form indicated (a) purpose of the study, (b) procedures of the study, (c) volunteerism and confidentiality, and (d) risks and benefits of the proposed study. Each participant agreed and signed the informed consent form before I conducted the semistructured interviews. Before the interview, I reviewed the informed consent form and explained to participants they have the right to withdraw at any time throughout the research study process and there were no consequences for their decision to withdraw from the study. I did not offer compensation or incentives for participation in this study and all six selected participants remained active in the research study process. After each

interview, I provided participants with a synopsis of their interview responses for member-checking. I also emailed a summary of findings to participants and will provide them with a copy of the final research study when published.

As the researcher, I protected the names of participants by labeling them as P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6 for confidentiality. Labeling participants replaced their names, company names, and any other relevant company documentation that could identify anyone in this study. I kept all digitized data stored on a secured external flash drive. Walden University requires data be kept securely for 5 years to protect confidentiality of participants. I am keeping the secured external flash drive and paper documents pertaining to the research study for 5 years in a locked fireproof box. After 5 years from the date of completing the approved and final research study, I will permanently dispose research data by shredding paper documents and deleting research data from the secured external flash drive.

Data Collection Instruments

Qualitative researchers concurrently collect and analyze data when conducting research studies (Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015). I was the primary data collection instrument for this study. Qualitative researchers collect data to conduct in-depth studies through notetaking, observing participants, hosting focus groups, or interviewing participants (Noyes et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015; Yousefi Nooraie et al., 2020). I used semistructured interviews as the primary data collection instrument. Semistructured interviews allow researchers to ask participants the same open-ended questions and probe throughout the interview to receive detailed responses from participants (Husband, 2020;

Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Semistructured interviews also allow researchers to use audio and video recording when conducting interviews (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, I wanted to ensure participants felt safe, so I used Zoom video conferencing to conduct semistructured interviews. Zoom software allowed me to audio record each participant interview. An interview protocol is a guide that lists interview questions and researchers use it during the interview process (De Block & Vis, 2019; O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021). I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) as a guide to conduct each participant interview, which included seven open-ended interview questions for data collection.

In addition to collecting data using semistructured interviews, I asked participants to share company documents that relate to the research question as a secondary data collection method. I reviewed documents shared by participants that included details on how leaders track employee career progress and performance, thank you emails and articles from mass media from their former employees, and local newspaper publications to confirm employees career advancement under their leadership. I also reviewed publicly available company documentation on each corporation's website related to the research question. The use of multiple data collection techniques helps with data triangulation where researchers find similar information from different sources or methods (Wohlin, 2021; Yin, 2018). I used both interview data and company documents to support methodological triangulation. The informed consent form indicated interview data and company documents will be kept confidential.

I used member checking to improve the reliability and validity for the study. Member checking is defined as a process to validate the accuracy of researcher's interpretation of participant data (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; De Block & Vis, 2019; Husband, 2020; Yin, 2018). Before the member checking process, I transcribed audio recorded interview data and created a one-page summary of participant responses. Each participant received an emailed summary of their interview responses for review. I conducted member-checking interviews with participants to ensure the accuracy of my interpretation of their interview responses.

Data Collection Technique

Semistructured interviews is a data collection technique that allows researchers to use interview guides, audio, and video recording devices to collect information for research studies (Saunders et al., 2015). I used semistructured interviews as the primary data collection technique for this study. Researchers use interview protocols to guide them through the interview process to ensure each participant interview is replicated using the same open-ended interview questions (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) to collect data for each participant interview. I worked with people in my professional network using LinkedIn to seek participants who fit the participant criteria for this study. I asked participants to agree to (a) participate in an audio recorded virtual interview for approximately 45 minutes, (b) provide me with relevant authorized company documents via email, and (c) participate in a member checking interview for approximately 15 minutes. I used Zoom video conferencing to conduct audio recorded participant interviews. Each participant

audio recorded interview was transcribed in a Microsoft Word document. Some researchers use reflective journals to take personal notes about the research process (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I kept a reflective journal to keep notes about my personal experience throughout the research process. The informed consent form indicated the specific details about the data collection process.

There are both advantages and disadvantages to using semistructured interviews. Some advantages of semistructured interviews are participants can answer questions by openly expressing their beliefs and researchers can get quotes from participants responses (Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). Another advantage of semistructured interviews is researchers can prepare interview questions before conducting participant interviews (Saunders et al., 2015). I conducted semistructured interviews, used the interview protocol (Appendix A) with open ended questions, and conducted member-checking as advantages for this study. Semistructured interviews also produces a high level of validity and credibility for qualitative research studies (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). Some disadvantages for semistructured interviews are participants may not feel comfortable with the interview setting and may feel reluctant to share specific details when answering questions (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I conducted participant interviews virtually, so they were able to choose their own interview setting and I explained the confidentiality of their responses. Researchers may conduct pilot tests to help validate and make any adjustments before conducting research studies (Husband, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I did not conduct a pilot test based on the limited scope of this study.

Once I received participant consent, I scheduled a Zoom audio recorded interview on a day and time that worked best for the participant's schedule. Researchers may use the internet and technological software to conduct research studies (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Due to the global pandemic, a virtual setting allowed participants to feel safe and they were able to access Zoom video conferencing using a computer or cellphone. To start the interview, I introduced myself, shared the purpose of the research study, and asked participants background questions using the interview protocol (Appendix A). During the interview, I asked participant questions and probed to ensure data saturation. Data saturation occurs in research studies when no new themes or information is being replicated in interview data (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Fusch & Ness, 2015; O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I asked follow-up questions and inquired about further information from participants to help me reach data saturation.

After the interview, I used member checking to validate the accuracy of each participant responses. Member checking is a data validation technique researchers use to ask participants to verify data accuracy (De Block & Vis, 2019; Husband, 2020; Yin, 2018). Researchers can provide participants with paraphrased interview responses to review for data accuracy (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). I emailed participants a one-page summary of their paraphrased interview responses within two days of the interview, and they had five days to review the interview transcript for accuracy. During the member checking interview, participant interview responses was reviewed to ensure I captured the correct interpretation of participant responses. I made updates to responses if participants provided any new

insights. Researchers are ethically responsible to ensure accurate data is collected from participants (Husband, 2020). The completion of member checking ensured I summarized participants responses correctly to include in data organization and analysis.

Data Organization Technique

Researchers organize and code participant data throughout the data collection process to keep track of all research materials (De Block & Vis, 2019; O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021). Protecting the identities of participants is an ethical standard and labeling participants helped me keep interview data organized. I followed the interview protocol guide (Appendix A) and labeled participants as P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6 on all research data. Reflective journals are a technique researchers use to keep track of data and make personal notes about the research process (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I kept track of research data, emerging ideas about the study, and my personal research experiences in a reflective journal for data organization. The use of electronic software efficiently helps researchers organize, code, and analyze data (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021). I used Microsoft Excel to organize data collected from interviews and company documents by storing information on a secured external flash drive. I also used Zoom software to audio record participants interview and Microsoft Word was used for transcription. I used NVivo, a computer software with query features to easily categorize all raw data collected. I will adhere to Walden University's requirements and keep raw data stored securely for 5 years to protect confidentiality of participants. I have stored the secured external flash drive and company documentation in a locked fireproof box and will keep items for 5 years. After 5 years

from the date of completing the approved and final research study, I will permanently dispose research data by shredding paper documents and deleting research data from the secured external flash drive.

Data Analysis

Data analysis is a process researchers use to organize and analyze raw research data to interpret research findings (Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Triangulation is a common data analysis technique researchers use that involves the use of multiple sources for data collection to validate research findings (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Saunders et al., 2015; Wohlin, 2021; Yin, 2018). Data triangulation increases validity of research studies and can reduce researcher bias (Yin, 2018). I used methodological triangulation to analyze data collected from semistructured interviews and company documentation. There are different approaches researchers can use for data analysis. Yin (2018) created five phases for data analysis which includes (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding data. I used Yin's five-phase approach for data analysis.

Compiling

Qualitative researchers use both interview data and relevant company documents for an in-depth review when conducting a research study (De Block & Vis, 2019; Saldaña, 2014; Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) advised researchers to first compile all data, such as participant interview data and company documentation during data analysis. Reviewing data allows researchers to organize transcribed data for analysis (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). I used Microsoft Excel to organize data collected from

semistructured interviews, company documentation, and member checking. Data was entered in NVivo software for data categorization.

Disassembling

Researchers code data during the disassembling phase (Yin, 2018). Thematic data analysis is a process researchers use to thoroughly review and code data into themes (Roberts et al., 2019; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). Coding participant responses allows researchers to sort data and identify themes to understand information specific to the research question (De Block & Vis, 2019; O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). I used NVivo to code and highlight data for review to identify themes and categories.

Reassembling

Researchers reassemble research data after they become familiar with common themes discovered in the disassembling phase (Yin, 2018). Reassembling data is a process researchers use to combine and analyze data for recurring themes or categories (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). I used NVivo to identify any common themes or categories in the research data. NVivo produced graphical elements of the data to help me identify specific themes for the study.

Interpreting

Researchers review data and interpret logical findings to validate research studies (Yin, 2018). Methodological triangulation is how researchers validate research findings using one or more methods to study a phenomenon (Wohlin, 2021; Yin, 2018). I used semistructured interviews and company documentation to achieve methodological

triangulation. By using multiple methods, I was able to improve the validity of interpreting research findings for this study.

Concluding

Qualitative researchers use computer software to help them make conclusions about research data (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). Using both Microsoft Excel and NVivo software helped me review data collected and formulate conclusions about the data. I analyzed research data by comparing and contrasting key themes identified from the academic literature, conceptual framework, semistructured interviews, company documentation, and reflective journal notes to answer the research question. I also correlated research findings with new literature published since writing the literature review. Using Yin's five-phase approach for data analysis supported the reliability and validity of the study.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers aim to have accurate and credible research studies (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Reliability and validity of research data support the trustworthiness of a research study (Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020; Roberts et al., 2019). Qualitative researchers use credibility, transferability, dependability, confirmability, and data saturation to validate research studies (De Block & Vis, 2019; Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020; Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015).

Reliability

Reliability is defined as the stability of research findings across time, contexts, and research instruments (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020). Research studies are reliable if they

can be replicated based on the dependability of the research data (Saunders et al., 2015). Qualitative research studies should be replicable (Belur et al., 2021). Replication of themes can be difficult for researchers when analyzing academic literature and participant data (Roberts et al., 2019). Some qualitative research studies are more replicable than other research studies (De Boeck et al., 2018; Roberts et al., 2019). Qualitative researchers can ensure research studies are reliable and dependable by using consistent data collection techniques (Belur et al., 2021; Roberts et al., 2019; Saldaña, 2021; Saunders et al., 2015). To ensure dependability for the study, I consistently used the interview protocol (Appendix A) for participant semistructured interviews and reviewed company documentation for data saturation. I used member checking to allow participants to validate my interpretation of their responses.

Validity

Validity refers to the accuracy of analyzing research data and the appropriate use of instruments in a research study (Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020; Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). Credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation was the criteria I used to help validate this study. I ensured validity for this study by using member checking after each participant interview to share my interpretation of their responses and obtain participant feedback for data accuracy. I used methodological triangulation to analyze data collected from semistructured interviews and company documentation.

Credibility

Researchers' interpretation of participant data must be checked for accuracy and member checking helps researchers validate the accuracy of participant responses (Saunders et al., 2015). Researchers use multiple methods to reach methodological triangulation for credible research studies (Saunders et al., 2015; Wohlin, 2021; Yin, 2018). Member checking allows participants to confirm the researcher's interpretation of their responses (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; De Block & Vis, 2019; Husband, 2020; Yin, 2018). I used member checking after each participant interview to support the credibility of this study. As a secondary method to participant interview data, I reviewed relevant company documentation to ensure credibility for this study.

Transferability

Transferability refers to researchers' capability to replicate research study findings based on applying the same research process in a similar context or setting (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). O'Connor and Joffe (2020) suggested qualitative researchers use meticulous data collection and analysis techniques so other researchers can evaluate transferability of research studies. I provided thorough descriptions of the research process to collect and analyze data, the interview protocol guide (Appendix A), and meticulously documented findings to ensure transferability of this study.

Confirmability

Confirmability supports the trustworthiness of a research study (Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020). Qualitative researchers establish confirmability in research studies by

verifying research findings compared to participant information and excluding researcher bias (Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). Researchers use reflexivity to exclude researcher bias by identifying assumptions prior to conducting research studies (Huttunen & Kakkori, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). A research notebook can also help researchers be reflective when conducting research studies by documenting the research process (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). I used methodological triangulation to confirm this study from semistructured interviews and company documentation. I used a reflective journal to keep an audit trail of the research process that includes information from interview data and company documents to ensure the confirmability of this study.

Data Saturation

Researchers can also validate research studies by ensuring data saturation. Data saturation occurs when participants start to share the same themes and concepts during the interview process (De Block & Vis, 2019; Roberts et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2015). The repetition of information from participants during an interview alerts researchers that data saturation has occurred, and the interview is complete (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Yin, 2018). I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) to ensured data saturation occurred by probing and asking clarifying questions during participant interviews until no reoccurring themes or concepts were shared. I used methodological triangulation by conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing company documentation to ensure data saturation for this study.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the TM strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. In Section 2, I discussed my role as the researcher and participant selection criteria. I also described the research method and design, population and sampling, data collection and techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity for this study. Section 3 includes research findings, application to professional practice and implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and a conclusion to finalize the research study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the TM strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. Researchers conclude research studies by providing an overview of the data collected and by identifying new concepts, theories, and recommendations for future research (Yin, 2018). Six senior leaders from four Fortune 500 companies participated in this multiple case study. Five major themes emerged from data analysis: (a) provide mentorship, (b) conduct one-on-one meetings, (c) create individual development plans, (d) encourage continuing education, and (e) provide internal job shadowing. The path-goal theory was used as the practical lens as each participant discussed in detail the TM strategies they had used to manage career advancement for their internal employees. This section includes the presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this study was: What TM strategies do senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees? To identify these TM strategies, I recruited six senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies who have successfully used TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees in the Midwest region of the United States. After each participant agreed to the informed consent of this research study, I conducted six semistructured audio-recorded Zoom interviews using an interview protocol guide (Appendix A) for

consistency. The study participants were labeled as P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6 to protect their privacy. As shown in Table 1, participants were asked demographic questions and provided information about their (a) industry, (b) current leadership position, (c) number of employees they managed, (d) overall leadership experience, and (e) highest education. I ensured data saturation for this research when no new information or themes emerged during data collection. After each interview, Zoom transcribed the interview data, and I created a summary of each participant interview responses. I emailed participants a summary of their interview data before performing member-checking. A member-checking interview was held with each participant to confirm the reliability and validity of interview data. There was one participant whose interview data was updated to accurately report their responses.

In addition to the interviews, I reviewed publicly accessible company documentation on each corporation's website. I also reviewed documents shared by participants that included details on how leaders track employee career progress and performance, thank you emails and articles from mass media from their former employees, and local newspaper publications to confirm employees' career advancement under their leadership.

Table 1Demographic Information of the Participants

Participants	Fortune 500	Current	Number of	Overall	Highest
	Industry	Leadership	Employees	Leadership	Education
		Position		Experience	
P1	Gas and	21 years	7	18 years	Master of
	Electric				Business
					Administration
P2	Aerospace	15 years	15	42 years	Master's
Р3	Banking	2 years	6	40 years	Bachelor's
P4	Business Consulting	7 years	4	6 years	Master's
P5	Banking	17 years	8	20 years	Bachelor's
P6	Gas and Electric	31 years	33	20 years	Master of Business Administration

Table 2 shows the five emergent themes of TM strategies: (a) provide mentorship, (b) conduct one-on-one meetings, (c) create individual development plans, (d) encourage continuing education, and (e) provide internal job shadowing. Some themes consist of subthemes and the table lists the frequency all participants mentioned this theme. Themes and subthemes align with the path-goal theory conceptual framework, in which a leader's behavior affects managing employee careers. Research findings include direct participant quotes, connection with the path-goal theory, and other peer-reviewed studies from the literature review including literature added since the approval of the proposal.

Table 2 *Emerged Themes of Talent Management Strategies*

Theme	Frequency	
Provide Mentorship	42	
Conduct One-On-One Meetings	30	
Create Individual Development Plans	17	
Encourage Continuing Education	16	
Provide Internal Job Shadowing	10	

Theme 1: Provide Mentorship

The first theme that emerged indicated that senior leaders provide mentorship as a TM strategy to manage career advancement for employees. Each participant in this study discussed the importance of mentorship and its impact on employees' careers. The study participants noted they match employees with a mentor inside or outside of the company depending on the career goal of the employees. These senior leaders agreed that providing mentorship is one of the best TM strategies to help employees advance their careers.

Employees who have a mentor develop professional skills that are necessary for career growth. P5 defined a *mentor* as,

Someone who is going to sit down with you and create a development plan to review where you are at. This person might challenge you on some things and give you advice on what you should do. A mentor is someone you can talk to and is very transparent.

P1 noted mentorship was important for people who want to develop and grow in the organization. Four participant companies have formal mentoring programs that connect employees with mentors to help develop their professional skills. P1 emphasized that the mentoring relationship is important and when they have provided employees with a formal or informal mentor their careers have advanced. The study participants discussed how employees are matched with a mentor with expertise in a field employees want to develop their skills in. P6 found providing mentorship was best when employees connect with an expert in a career field. These senior leaders discovered that employees who are engaged in their mentoring relationship often advance their careers.

Senior leaders also connect employees with people in their personal network to provide mentoring. Study participants discussed how they go beyond their companies to ensure their employees connect with a mentor who can help them succeed. P1 shared they use their network to provide mentors for employees. P5 stated, "I'm a full-time mentor to employees but I like for them to get mentorship outside of me." P3 and P4 agreed with P5 and stated they match employees with mentors both within and outside the company. Each participant shared the effectiveness of utilizing their personal network to help employees advance their careers.

There are several ways senior leaders can provide mentorship to their employees. P3 explained the process they use for mentorship involves starting with an action plan. P2 and P3 start mentorship by ascertaining the employee's career goals. Each participant shared that once they understand what career their employees want to pursue, they connect them with an expert in that field using their professional or personal network. P3

noted they mentor their employees with a "start to finish" action plan to help them reach their career goals. The participants agreed that having a mentorship plan has been effective for their employees' career advancement.

Providing mentorship to employees can last beyond the initial relationship. P2 and P3 discussed how former employees are grateful for the mentorship they have provided. P3 even said that they continue to have relationships with employees after they have advanced their careers. P2 noted some employees "can't see where they want to go until you can show them" they can achieve their career goals. P2 and P3 were passionate when they discussed how employees tend to give back and help other people develop professionally because of the help they received to advance their careers. The participants discovered that providing mentorship can be a transformational experience for employees. Table 3 is a list of the five subthemes of providing mentorship.

Table 3Subthemes of Provide Mentorship

Subtheme	Frequency	
Sponsorship	10	
Career Transition	10	
Generational Differences	12	
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion	5	
Lack of Leadership Support	5	

Sponsorship

The first subtheme that emerged is the difference between mentorship and sponsorship. Each participant shared instances where they took the next step to help employees get started with new opportunities by sponsoring them. The study participants agreed mentorship is an important TM strategy, but suggested sponsorship of employees in the workplace. P5 was passionate about sharing the definition of sponsorship. P5 said,

Sponsorship is when someone will be your voice in the room when you are not there. A sponsor is a person that can put you in contact with the person hiring for the job. A sponsor is going to be your champion and advocate in roles where you are not able to. So, a sponsor is going to give you more career insight and tell you where to go to put your name out there.

Participants discussed the need to sponsor their employees for career opportunities. P6 described a time when an employee was unable to get into a training course and they needed to add the course to their resume. The participant described they knew the facilitator, so they reached out to explain their employee situation and was able to have their employee enrolled in the course. This response is an example of how senior leaders can use their connections with others to help their employees. For example, senior leaders may know hiring managers in other departments and call them to help their employees get an interview for a job. These strategies can be the difference between a senior leader mentoring an employee versus sponsoring an employee.

Three other participants applied strategies similar to P6 when connecting their employees with the right people. The participants agreed their role is to ensure employees

connect with the right people by making a personal connection. P4 sponsors their employees by including other leaders in conversations that can help their employees excel in their careers. P1 encourages their employees to share with them their career goals because their network encompasses people from various careers, and they reach out to specific people depending on employees' needs. P3 mentioned that connecting employees with others gives them the power of influence and other employees tend to respect them more. P3 described sponsoring employees in their careers as being a successful strategy. P1 sits on an internal committee at their company and uses this leadership role to sponsor other employees. The participant discussed a time when they had an opportunity to sponsor an employee for a new job role where they moved into a department to fly drones. This response is an example of how leaders serving on committees at their company gives them a greater chance of sponsoring employees. P6 agreed and ensures her employees receive new projects by being transparent and sharing employee information with sponsors to help them. Senior leaders can go beyond mentorship by sponsoring employees for career advancement.

Career Transition

The second subtheme that emerged was leaders having career transition conversations while mentoring employees. Five participants shared instances during mentorship where employees said they wanted to leave the company or discovered employees were not suited for their position. P2 described how they recommended new career opportunities to employees who were not a good fit for their job role and provided employees letters of recommendation. P2 said, "Former employees would come back and

thank me for helping them find their niche." P5 often asks employees how they can help them if they are uncertain about the job role. P5 discussed the importance of having a good team of people who enjoy their job roles. For example, if an employee does not like their job, then they may not provide good quality work. P5 talks to employees if the job role may not be a good fit for them and mentions "let's look for something in a back office." P5 further explained some employees have a good character but lack the necessary skills to meet business objectives. P2 and P5 agreed that employees must fit well into their job roles, or they would help them transition into a career that suits them.

Senior leaders must support their employees when they want to make career transitions. Four participants discussed how they support their employees who decide to leave the company. P4 said, "I do my best to not let employees get stuck in their job role. So, if they want to leave the company based on a better job opportunity, I will support them." P5 agreed and shared that each employee has a unique talent and deserves to work in a job role where they can use that talent. These senior leaders shared how important it is for an employee to feel fulfilled in a job role. P3 discussed how they encourage employees to make strategic career moves by researching information in the field they want to transition into. P3 said, "I just really want employees to see a higher version of themselves and pursue it. When I help my employees, my spirit of influence grows bigger and other employees begin to ask me for advice." P3 further shared experiences they had when employees left the company and how their team became smaller until they found a new hire. P5 agreed with P3 and discussed how they respect employees who tell them they are looking for other career opportunities. P5 mentioned that if their employees need

time off to interview for another job, they will approve it. This response is an example of how senior leaders may want to handle the career transition of employees. Senior leaders must understand that losing an employee for career advancement is better than keeping an employee stuck in a job role they find unfulfilling.

Generational Differences

The third subtheme is leaders encountering generational differences while mentoring employees. Three participants shared that the majority of their employees are new to the workforce. They also shared that they have to mentor employees differently based on age groups. P5 has been managing a team of different generations for over 20 years but noted "this new age group caused me to adjust to them." Leading different generations can be difficult and P5 realized they had to lead differently if they wanted results from the younger generation at their company. P4 agreed with P5 and discussed a major adjustment was excepting their younger employees were challenging them to think differently. P4 said, "Just because I did things a certain way so many years ago, doesn't necessarily mean that was the right approach for me or my career." The participant further explained that conversations in the workplace must acknowledge the views and concerns of younger employees because they offer a unique perspective on modern business problems. P4 discussed the importance of work experience for the younger generation and how the younger generation is more focused on wellness but not at the expense of their happiness. The study participants discovered young professionals will express their expectations of the job role with their leaders.

The younger generation needs guidance in the workplace. The participants agreed most of their younger employees want to be successful, but they need guidance from leaders to help them. P3 discovered that their younger employees are always on their cellular phones while at work and often forget to acknowledge customers. P3 uses this example as a learning experience for their younger employees by providing them with guidance on the business etiquette they need to have in the workplace, such as not having their phones out in front of customers. P5 agreed with P3 about the use of cellular phones by the younger generation in the workplace. P5 said, "A lot of individuals who are new to corporate America have unrealistic expectations and tend not to work as hard because some of them want to become Instagram influencers." P5 shared that outside of mentorship, they also share business etiquette techniques to guide employees new to the workforce. The participants agreed that they often teach soft skills to help some of their younger employees do well in corporate America. P5 shared that in addition to mentoring younger employees they also guide employees with (a) answering the phone, (b) checking and sending emails, (c) writing and grammar, (d) professional dress code, (e) the importance of coming to work on time, and (f) communication. P5 further shared that younger employees must understand what is in it for them to be interested in achieving business objectives and advancing their careers in the workplace.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

The fourth subtheme that emerged was diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) when providing mentorship to employees. P3 discussed that different TM strategies work for different people, especially depending on who they are and where they are in life. P3

and P5 work for the same Fortune 500 company. Their company's publicly accessible 2021 employee information report described the majority of their senior leaders as white men, with little to no cultural diversity in senior leadership roles. P3's and P5's companies also had a publicly accessible 2021 workforce composition disclosure that identified white employees received more promotions compared to all other ethnicities in the United States. P4 company's publicly accessible documentation also reported similar results where white employees received job promotions more than any other ethnicity in the company. P2 discussed similar results at their company and the impact it has on providing mentorship. P2 said, "Employees in the information and technology field (IT) are predominantly Caucasian males. So, being a minority and having a mentor is few and far between." P2's company did not have a public DEI report to review although the company did have employment data that only provided the numbers of employees.

Some companies' public DEI reports stated some practices used to track DEI success. P4 company's publicly accessible 2022 DEI report suggested their priority is to equip all of their employees for success by having a company that reflects diversity in every department. P4's company had seven commitments identified to uphold DEI practices. One of the seven commitments states, "enhance parity in career progression by having a diverse team of women and people with different ethnicities." This commitment from a Fortune 500 company highlights that having diverse teams can ensure DEI practices are being implemented in the workplace.

P1 and P6 participants work for the same Fortune 500 company. P6 works in a male-dominated field and discussed they have a challenge with other leaders' perception

of minority employees, and their ability to meet expectations of a job role. P1 and P6 company's publicly accessible 2021 DEI states a commitment to "increase diversity in the leadership pipeline." This idea was one of the several workforce strategies this Fortune 500 company plans to implement. The report also indicated the company has 13 leadership and development programs to develop and retain top talent. Of the 13 programs, two programs specifically enhance Black equity at their company, and five programs focus on preparing employees for management positions, specifically showing a high percentage of women participants. Senior leaders must consider the importance of DEI practices so that all employees have equal opportunities to advance their careers.

Lack of Leadership Support

The final subtheme of mentorship was the lack of leadership support. P2 and P6 discussed the lack of leadership support from other leaders at their companies when mentoring employees for career advancement. The study participants posited that some managers were not interested in helping employees advance their careers in the workplace. P2 observed other leaders who were more results-driven than helping employees with their career paths. The participant further explained how they believe other leaders may not mentor people and support their career path because they want employees to stay in their current roles, especially if they are producing good work. The participants agreed that the lack of leader support impeded the way they could promote some of their employees. The study participants discussed how other leaders may not feel an employee is ready or a good fit for certain job roles. P6 shared that they get pushback from other leaders when they help their employees advance their careers. They described

that pushback occurs because other company leaders have a fixed mindset about where they think an employee should go. Senior leaders at all levels of Fortune 500 companies should support employee career growth and not restrain employees to one job role.

Connection to the Literature

Mentorship prepares employees to become emerging leaders in their companies (Blake-Beard et al., 2021). Providing mentorship also aligns with research that found the mentor and mentee relationship helps employees make valuable career decisions (Bell & Rosowsky, 2021). All participants in this study provide mentorship to their employees and connect them with other mentors, inside and outside of the company, to help them advance their careers. P5 talked about the value of having a sponsor, which relates to the findings of Lin et al. (2021) on how sponsors provide career-related support to help people get promoted. Phaladi and Ngulube (2022) found that 41% of HR managers who worked at South African companies confirmed mentoring was not in place in their organizations. The findings from my study do not agree with Phaladi and Ngulube (2022) about the high percentage of companies not offering mentoring. More companies do indeed have mentorship programs in place. All participants discussed how their companies' mentorship programs are key factors in helping employees advance their careers.

My research findings identified information for generational differences and DEI, which was not examined in the literature review. Some participants shared that minorities usually lack an understanding of mentorship. Samanta and Eleni (2021) found that employees with mentors understand the value of mentorship for career advancement.

Some participants lead the new generation entering the workforce differently compared to how they lead people who have been in the workforce for over 10 years. Situational leaders can change their approach to best lead their teams (Mustofa & Muafi, 2021). Iyer (2022) posited companies include disadvantaged group members in the decision-making process when changing DEI policies. Having diverse groups collectively change DEI policies may create more equal opportunities for employees. When employees get the same privileges in the workplace, including mentorship, there may be an equal opportunity for all employees who seek career advancement to move up in the company.

Connection to the Conceptual Framework

The first theme, provide mentorship, connects to two leadership behaviors of the path-goal theory: supportive and participative. Supportive leaders appreciate their employees and are approachable when employees want to share their concerns about the workplace (Lam et al., 2021; Mustofa & Muafi, 2021; Rana et al., 2019). Each participant shared their desire to support employees wanting to advance their careers. Supportive leaders provide valuable resources to employees and closely watch their development to determine if they reach their career goals while meeting business objectives (Huang, 2019). Participants discussed the importance of sharing resources with their employees to support them as they plan for career transitions.

Participative leadership behavior encourages a collaborative work environment where employees' opinions matter in decision-making (House, 1996). Participative leaders cooperate with employees when making decisions and make them feel comfortable sharing their ideas and concerns (Dokony et al., 2020; Rana et al., 2019).

Four participants discussed having collaborative work environments where their employees feel empowered to ask questions and provide feedback. Participants further mentioned they like problem-solving with their employees.

The findings also connect to workgroup representation and networking, which is another leadership behavior of the path-goal theory. Leaders who are involved in representing themselves in other areas and have a network can positively affect their team (House, 1996). Networking is when people engage with others at professional or community events who share similar interests (Bonneton et al., 2019). Leaders who use their personal networks can be successful in advancing employee careers (Sibunruang & Kawai, 2021). Three participants confirmed they use their networking skills to help manage the careers of employees. Virtual networking, such as LinkedIn, is now the most common strategy for an employee's career transition (Schechter, 2020). When leaders have a powerful personal network, they can leverage their relationships to help employees advance their careers.

Theme 2: Conduct One-On-One Meetings

The second theme that emerged indicated senior leaders often conduct one-on-one meetings with employees as a TM strategy to manage career advancement. Each participant shared the importance of conducting one-on-one meetings with their employees to manage career advancement. The participants discussed how they enjoy having one-on-one conversations with their employees. P6 described a one-on-one meeting is held between a leader and an employee to discuss performance and career advancement. One-on-one meetings can occur in different settings based on the senior

leaders' schedules. Most of the participants shared they conduct one-on-one meetings with employees in their offices or virtually, but P4 takes their employees outside of the building. P4 revealed their one-on-one meetings with employees are lunches to discuss career growth aligned with business objectives. P4 company provides a budget for leaders to take employees to lunch. One-on-one meetings allow leaders and employees to talk with no interference and build a relationship.

Senior leaders offer one-on-one meetings at different frequencies with their employees. Some participants meet with employees (a) bi-weekly, (b) monthly, or (c) bi-monthly for one-on-one meetings. The participants also shared that they check in with employees weekly about their well-being connected to their job performance and workflow in the office. P1, P2, and P3 prefer to have bi-weekly meetings with their employees. During these meetings, participants discuss job performance and career growth with their employees, while asking about the progress of employees' mentorship opportunities. P4 and P5 conduct monthly one-on-one meetings. P5 said, "I've noticed in my tenure doing this job, once a month is a good check in time with employees." The participant further noted some employees often tell them they never had a leader meet with them before. This issue gives P5 a reason to make time with employees to ensure they are getting the development they need.

Some leaders prefer a combination of ways to meet one-on-one with employees.

P6 shared they like to have separate one-on-one meetings with employees to discuss specific items. P6 prefers to meet with employees bi-weekly or monthly to discuss job-related tasks and bi-monthly to discuss career advancement. The participant shared that

separating the meetings allows them time to focus on the career advancement of their employees and explore how they are achieving their plan. P3 has scheduled bi-weekly one-on-one meetings with employees, and they also like to have casual conversations with employees about career advancement. The participant further discussed how they walk around their branch connecting with their employees through a casual conversation and ask employees questions about their career plans. The participants schedule one-on-one meetings with employees and have casual conversations throughout the workday. Whether a senior leader decides to use varied one-on-one meetings or standard one-on-one meetings, findings show this TM strategy has been successful for employees to advance their careers.

Some participants shared how they ensure employees understand one-on-one meetings are for them to provide feedback so employees can take control of their future. P1 said, "If I know an employee is striving for something, I begin to be more intentional about helping them." P1 shared how important it was to align their meetings with employees' career goals. P2 discussed their one-on-one conversations with employees focus on career growth. P2 said, "I start positioning employees for their next job when they start working for me." P5 shared that some employees are not familiar with one-on-one meetings because they are new to corporate America. The participant educates employees about the importance of one-on-one meetings and guides them through the process. Table 4 is a display of the four subthemes related to conducting one-on-one meetings.

Table 4Subthemes of Conduct One-On-One Meetings

Subtheme	Frequency
Supportive Relationships	8
Performance Reviews	3
Company Culture	11
Employee Mindset	8

Supportive Relationships

The first subtheme from senior leaders conducting one-on-one meetings is supportive relationships. Participants shared that building supportive relationships with employees has been beneficial to managing employees' career advancement. The participants shared how employees enjoy sharing information with them in their one-on-one meetings because they feel supported. P2 emphasized, "I like to be transparent and personable to individuals who report to me." P6 agreed with P2 and noted when employees join their team, they spend a lot of time getting to know them. P3 discussed how they created a workplace culture of supportive relationships and noted employees feel relaxed around me by openly sharing their career goals. P4 agreed with P3 and also fosters an environment where employees can be honest with them. P4 provided a public mass media article from a former employee that highlighted the support they received from P4 to advance their career. This documentation confirmed the employee felt supported by P4 leadership and the employee was able to excel in their career at the

company. The participants take the lead in creating supportive relationships with their employees as a strategy to help them advance their careers.

Performance Reviews

Performance reviews were the second subtheme that emerged from one-on-one meetings. P5 shared that conducting a one-on-one meeting about performance prepare employees for their annual review. The participant further discussed how employees can be aware of what leaders put in their development plan during monthly checkpoints, which prepare them for what to expect at their annual review. P5 prefers to use Microsoft Outlook to schedule monthly checkpoints with employees and document both performance and development notes so they can help employees with goal setting. P4 also shared they use one-on-one meetings to discuss performance management and career growth aligned with business objectives. The participant asks employees how they feel about the progress they made during the feedback cycle. Allowing the employee to lead the conversation about how they perform has been a great conversation starter and allows P4 to take meticulous notes. When senior leaders have regular one-on-one meetings with employees, employees become aware of their performance and can track their career progression.

Company Culture

The third subtheme of one-on-one meetings is company culture. P1 said their company culture is a place where people work hard and has a history of "work now, grieve later." The participant shared stories of how employees were apprehensive of their leadership style of collaboration because other managers are known to have a "do as I

say" attitude toward employees. P2 agreed with P1 and revealed their company's managers often focus on the results, not the person. P2 said, "Other managers focus on employees being here to do a job and remind them to get the job done." The participant also shared how they encountered other leaders whose only goal was to make employees the best people to meet the business objective. P5 also discussed how most leaders like telling employees what to do but mentioned their leadership style will not work in the evolving work environment.

Participants shared how they tried to change the company culture to create a better experience for employees who foresee advancing their careers. P3 discussed how they created a workplace culture to help people go where they wanted to go, and their employees feel relaxed around them by openly sharing their career goals. P4 shared that they were compelled to change the culture in the office because their younger employees challenged the way they think. P4 said, "I learned pretty early on that if you don't take ownership of your career, then the firm will." P4 stated that there are instances where the company needs job roles filled and turn to internal employees to perform them.

Employee Mindset

The final subtheme of one-on-one meetings was an employees' mindset.

Participants shared how the mindset of their employees dictates their career success. P4 stated some of their employees have fixed mindsets instead of growth mindsets, so it can be difficult having conversations with them. P3 disagreed and expressed how some of their employees want to be successful and do better in life. The participant shared, they have to overcome the negativity that some employees pick up outside of the workplace

from mass media including Facebook, Instagram, TikTok, and YouTube. P3 said, "Employees use if-then statements about life. They say, if I do this, this could happen. If I do that, that could happen." P6 agreed with P3 and noted some of their employees believe they should be at a different level in their career but often hold themselves back with their negative mindset. P2 said, "I am an aggressive accountability partner and it's challenging helping employees move forward when they push back." The participants discussed how some employees must overcome their negative thoughts by changing their mindsets about themselves. How employees feel about their career growth can impact how quickly they can grow their careers. Employees who want to advance their careers must have a positive mindset to allow their leaders can help them.

Connection to the Literature

The conduct one-on-one meeting's theme is consistent with existing literature on TM strategies for career advancement. Leaders must understand their employees' career paths to help them intentionally achieve their career goals (Locke & Latham, 2019). Employees are more likely to reach their career goals when they meet regularly with their leaders (Ngan & Tze-Ngai Vong, 2019). The leader-employee relationship that includes face-to-face meetings develops trust and opportunities to share feedback (Braun et al., 2019; Rofcanin et al., 2020). Senior leaders in this study confirmed meeting one-on-one with employees regularly helped them build supportive relationships and understand how career goals align with employee job performance. P6 revealed an electronic employee tracker related to one-on-one meetings and employee career progression. P4 also revealed a thank you email from a former employee that shared how their regular meetings helped

them achieve their career goal. In reviewing documentation, it confirmed one-on-one meetings with employees are a successful TM strategy in advancing employee careers. While study findings confirm the importance of the leader-employee relationship, recent literature suggests factors such as (a) financial crises, (b) the evolution of technology, and (c) workplace globalization affect how the leader-employee relationship changes in the workplace (Schechter, 2020). Study participants shared that having one-on-one meetings with their employees was beneficial to understanding how they can help employees reach their career goals.

Connection to the Conceptual Framework

The second theme, conducting one-on-one meetings, connects to all four leadership behaviors of the path-goal theory: (a) directive, (b) supportive, (b) participative, and (c) achievement-oriented. P2 was the only participant that expressed directive leadership behavior when having one-on-one meetings with employees.

Directive leaders lead with structure and control to ensure employees understand job expectations (House & Mitchell, 1975; Mustofa & Muafi, 2021). Supportive leaders listen to and appreciate their employees in the workplace (Mustofa & Muafi, 2021). Participative leaders ensure employees cooperate in decision-making matters that impact them (Rana et al., 2019). Each participant shared experiences where they supported their employees and cooperated with them on the trajectory of their careers. Leaders with achievement-oriented behaviors set challenging goals for their employees and help employees track their progress for improvement (Dokony et al., 2020). Four participants explained how they spend a great deal of time discussing career goals with employees. P2

added that they are a results-oriented leader who can be demanding of employees to reach their goals. P3 shared that 80% of the work they do as a leader focuses on their employees' career goals. These senior leaders possess the leadership behaviors presented in the path-goal theory to help employees advance their careers.

Theme 3: Create Individual Development Plans

The third theme that emerged indicated senior leaders help employees create individual development plans (IDPs) as a TM strategy to manage career advancement. Five participants discussed having employees create IDPs to manage career advancement. P1 defined an IDP as "a living document of employees' goals and tasks that they can continue to use within the company." The participants' companies have standardized IDP forms for employees to use that have specific performance and professional development questions. P1 and P6 work for the same Fortune 500 company. P1 discussed the importance of employees having an IDP to track their goals and tasks throughout the year. P6 added that using an IDP helps employees have an organized plan. P6 also monitors the effectiveness of an IDP by regularly discussing with employees their timeframe and goals reached to identify how long it takes employees to reach their goals. Study participants meet regularly with employees to see what progress they have made toward reaching their goals. According to P1 and P6, their employees complete an IDP each year to guide them toward their performance and professional goals.

P3 and P5 work for the same Fortune 500 company. Their company uses an electronic system to track employees' development. Their company has a system-based development plan; employees receive one within two weeks of their hire date. P5 shared

they can also use the IDP to start career progression conversations with employees to determine what employees want to do in the future. The use of an electronic IDP allows both managers and employees to track progress on the IDP, quickly make updates, and guide monthly meetings.

Many employees may not know the intent and purpose of an IDP. P4 shared that almost all of their employees are new to the workforce, and some employees often do not know what to include on their IDP. P4 described how they explain the importance of an IDP by asking employees a few questions to get them thinking about what they want to include. P4 asks, "Why did you enter this job field? What do you hope to get out of your career? What can I do to help you?" P4 further expressed that asking employees questions about what they want out of their careers is a major factor in helping them with career advancement. Table 5 is a display of the two subthemes related to creating IDPs.

Table 5Subtheme of Create Individual Development Plans

Subtheme	Frequency	
Employees take the lead	13	

Employees Take the Lead

The subtheme that participants discussed was employees took the lead in achieving career goals listed on their IDPs. The participants shared experiences they had with employees who were adamant about career growth at their companies. P2 discussed how they observed that an employee's effort pays off in the workplace, sharing that it is

up to the employee to commit to achieving their career goals. P2 noted that each employee has an individual journey, and some employees are not motivated to succeed. P4 agreed with P2 and mentioned they encourage their employees to vocalize the ideas they want to make toward career progression. The participants shared how some employees get out of the relationship what they desire to have from it. This response means employees who want to achieve their career goals take the lead by asking leaders for help or are determined to do things themselves. P4 discussed how some employees have a certain career path they want to follow so there is not much help they can offer employees. P1 said, "I also noticed employees are loyal to a company if they have seen growth in their careers by switching to other departments." Employees who want to advance their careers will take the lead if they truly want to progress.

Employees should advocate for their career advancement. P6 observed that employees who take the lead in their careers advocate for career advancement. P6 shared that employees who want to advance their careers are (a) proactive, (b) outspoken, (c) ask questions, and (d) offer insights about their job roles. These employees take the lead on projects to learn and grow. The participants shared that employees who take the lead are always looking for career opportunities at the company. The participants agreed leaders should support employees, especially if they have shared their desire to change career paths.

Connection to the Literature

The create IDP theme is consistent with existing literature on TM strategies for career advancement. Employees can plan their careers by using standardized documents

(Griffith et al., 2019; Harsch & Festing, 2020). Fareed et al. (2022) found that IDPs are given to high-performing employees at companies for career advancement. The study's findings do not agree with Fareed et al. (2022) because all participants stated that IDPs are created for all employees, not exclusively for high performers. Senior leaders should make sure all employees have a completed IDP that they can refer to as they set specific strategies to advance their careers.

Connection to the Conceptual Framework

The third theme, create IDP, connects to three leadership behaviors of the path-goal theory: (a) achievement-oriented, (b) supportive, and (c) participative. Senior leaders who have achievement-oriented behavior help employees reach challenging goals and employees expect to receive rewards for their work (Dokony et al., 2020; House & Mitchell, 1975). Some study participants stated employees expect to do well, achieve their goals on their IDPs, and earn a pay increase. Supportive leaders enjoy helping their employees achieve their goals and participative leaders collaborate with employees while they do the work (Lam et al., 2021; Rana et al., 2019). Each participant shared how they are intentional about supporting their employees and collaborating with them to guide how they can achieve their career goals. When senior leaders use IDPs they can effectively track the professional development of their internal employees and provide feedback throughout the year to help them reach business objectives, which support them in advancing their careers.

Theme 4: Encourage Continuing Education

The fourth theme that emerged was encourage continuing education. Each participant encouraged employees to seek higher education to help advance their careers. Two participants were adamant about their belief that employees should continue their education at a technical college or earn a four-year degree. Study participants discussed how a college degree can help an employee advance in a company. P2 said, "One of the things I do is push education to help employees find their niche." P2 shared that employees who know their niche focus on developing themselves for the career of their dreams. P1 shared that their company values employees who continue their education because the majority of open job roles require employees to have a bachelor's degree. Table 6 is a display of the two subthemes related to encourage continuing education.

Table 6Subthemes of Encourage Continuing Education

Subtheme	Frequency
Higher Education	7
Certifications and Training	9

Higher Education

The first subtheme that emerged from encouraging continuing education was higher education. The participants shared employees who have a higher education had a better chance of advancing their careers internally. P1 discussed that most job requirements at their company require employees to have at least a bachelor's degree so

employees seeking career advancement may have to go back to school. P3 added they encourage younger employees to pursue a college degree. This TM strategy was confirmed with public social media documentation where an employee thanked P3 for helping them get enrolled into a Historically Black College and University (HBCU), which was always a dream. By using this TM strategy, a senior leader may be able to change an employee's life.

Certifications and Training

The second subtheme of encouraging continuing education is certifications and training. Some participants shared the importance of employees having industry certifications and completing internal training to meet job requirements to advance their careers. P2 discussed the importance of formal education but noted technical education is required for employees to develop their talent in the information and technology (IT) field. P1 and P6 discussed their companies' internal virtual training courses where employees can learn new skills and apply what they learned after each training. P1 shared their concern about employees having to perform well on internal certification exams at their company to maintain a license or credential. P1 said, "I hate to say it, but the testing component sometimes knocks people out of the job position. Plus, when employees get certain job roles, they have to continue to pass internal tests." P1 further discussed how certification exams are difficult for internal candidates to pass and advancing their careers internally depends on a passing score. As more employees share their interest in advancing their careers, senior leaders must ensure employees understand new job roles may require more certification or training components.

Senior leaders encourage employees to attend internal training courses. P6 discussed how they encourage their employees to take on new projects and take additional training courses and attend seminars to build their professional skills. The participant reiterated that employees who have taken training courses to develop professionally are more successful with career advancement. P6 offered the following steps leaders should take to get employees into training courses; (a) discuss the gaps in professional development with employees, (b) have employees register for internal online training courses, (c) have employees take notes on applying skills learned to their day-to-day life, and (d) review the training material with employees in individual meetings.

These four steps may ensure employees understand training material as a means to advance their careers.

External training courses can be used to help employees advance their careers. P1 encourages their employees to use LinkedIn Learning. P1 described LinkedIn Learning as an online training resource where employees can obtain professional development courses. P1 stated, "I have a current mentee who has been taking some LinkedIn Learning courses. I've been helping them develop their skills, so they are transferable." Senior leaders who help employees develop transferable skills not only benefit the company but also the employees. Employees who learn new skills can add to their skillsets for future job roles.

Connection to the Literature

Findings related to the encourage continuing education theme are connected to existing literature that describes how having a bachelor's degree can help employees

advance their careers (Kilson, 2021). Most participants emphasized the value of employees having a higher education or receiving certification from training to advance their careers. Employees investing in higher education is a key TM strategy for career advancement (Kharadze et al., 2019). Companies that provide internal training and development to employees provide them with transferable skills (Theys & Schultz, 2020). Some participants shared that their companies had internal training employees could use to develop their skills. Online LinkedIn training modules are helpful for people to complete if they foresee advancing their careers (Schechter, 2020). Senior leaders should encourage employees to continue their education if it will be a job requirement for them to advance to an open position.

Connection to the Conceptual Framework

Encouraging continuing education connects to two leadership behaviors of the path-goal theory: supportive and achievement-oriented. Supportive leaders create an opportunity for employees to experience further learning in the workplace (Lam et al., 2021). Participants shared that when they encourage continued education their employees were able to further their careers within and outside the company. Achievement-oriented leaders help their employees keep track of their goals and progress (Dokony et al., 2020). Some participants shared how they remind employees to enroll in internal training to receive certifications that can help them add to their resumes. Supportive and achievement-oriented leaders create a workplace environment that encourages continued education for their employees.

Theme 5: Provide Internal Job Shadowing

The fifth and final theme that emerged indicated senior leaders provide internal job shadowing as a TM strategy to manage career advancement for employees. Four participants shared that providing employees with internal job shadowing opportunities builds their curiosity about the company. P1 defined job shadowing as "employees spending the day with a colleague doing the work of a different job role." P6 described the job shadowing process as employees "observing someone that's in a different position or department within the company to pick their brain or confirm if that is indeed the job role they want to advance to." For example, an employee may shadow a technician at their company by watching how the technician completes daily job duties. P1 mentioned they could get an employee a job shadowing opportunity with the drone department. P1 said, "The employee was on the specific workgroup for two months to learn and get hands-on training flying drones." Providing employees with job shadowing opportunities will help them decide about applying for open job roles.

Employees should be placed with expert colleagues for internal job shadowing. Two participants mentioned they provide employees with job shadowing opportunities, but only with colleagues who are experts in the department. P6 said, "People invest a lot of time and energy into their jobs, so it's important I help my employees make sure the job roles they desire to move into is something worthwhile." Through job shadowing, employees can determine if certain job roles will fit their talents. P2 said, "I would have employees train in other positions to learn other techniques and develop their talents."

The participants mentioned the importance of employees getting experience in other

departments to help them make a final decision about internal career advancement. P3 said, "I tell my employees to reach out to people who are doing the job role you want to do, so you can find out how you can build your skill level to get in that department."

When employees shadow expert colleagues, they can ask specific questions about the job role and determine if the career they want involves the type of work they observe.

Employees who participate in job shadowing can gain new skills that help them advance their careers. P6 said, "Job shadowing provides growth and development opportunities for employees, and they can add it to their resume to help them move to the next level." P1 discussed the excitement employees have when they learn new skills from job shadowing in another department. Senior leaders identified that employees feel more knowledgeable when they can complete other job tasks at the company. When employees are offered internal job shadowing, they get hands-on training to develop new skills that may help them advance their careers. There were no subthemes identified from internal job shadowing.

Connection to the Literature

Job shadowing senior leadership and job rotations are key TM strategies for employees who seek internal career advancement (Bonneton et al., 2019). However, some companies lack programs providing on-the-job shadowing and job rotations for employees (Phaladi & Ngulube, 2022). For example, 60% of HR managers who work at South African companies stated job shadowing and rotations were not in place at their organizations (Phaladi & Ngulube, 2022). Four of the six study participants disagree with the observations of Phaladi and Ngulube (2022) because job shadowing was in place at

their Fortune 500 companies. P1 did mention that they would like to see more job rotations and that their company was possibly thinking about adding this TM strategy for employee advancement. Internal job shadowing will help employees gain more experience in other job roles or departments. Employees who get the opportunity to shadow other colleagues may have a greater chance of advancing their careers.

Connection to the Conceptual Framework

The fifth theme, internal job shadowing, connects to two leadership behaviors of the path-goal theory: supportive and achievement-oriented. Supportive leaders appreciate employees who share their career goals (Mustofa & Muafi, 2021). Some participants stated they listen to what job roles employees are interested in to provide specific TM strategies to help them advance their careers. Achievement-oriented leaders help employees reach their desired goals (Dokony et al., 2020). Some participants revealed they place employees in job shadowing opportunities to see what a new job role would entail. Allowing employees to job shadow other positions will help them decide which job role they would like.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this study was to identify the TM strategies senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage the career advancement of internal employees. The findings of this study provide senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies with information on how to effectively resolve one of the most common business problems they face: attracting and retaining talented employees. Six senior leaders who are successful with using TM strategies at Fortune 500 companies identified how they have

advanced the careers of internal employees. The key TM strategies identified in this study demonstrated an increase in internal employees advancing their careers by (a) providing mentorship, (b) conducting one-on-one meetings, (c) creating individual development plans, (d) encouraging continuing education, and (e) providing internal job shadowing.

Senior leaders should know the most effective TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees. Employees who have a leader who can provide mentorship opportunities can help them become more focused on their professional development. Manager-employee one-on-one meetings can help leaders become aware of the talent each employee brings to the team and organization. Tracking employee progress by creating individual development plans will allow leaders to make intentional decisions about advancing employees to job roles that fit their talents. Senior leaders who encouraged continued education for their employees set them up for career success, especially if internal job roles have degree or certification requirements. When employees get the opportunity to shadow other colleagues, they learn and develop key skills required for a job role of their interest before applying for an internal position. Fortune 500 company senior leaders who incorporate these five strategies support the achievement of business objectives by retaining talented employees and placing them in job roles that help the company's sustainability and competitive edge.

The insights gained from the participants of this study confirmed employees want to stay at their current company to develop and advance their careers. Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies may find these TM strategies useful when they decide how employees should advance in the company. Senior leaders can begin to strengthen the

company's talent pipeline by advancing the careers of internal employees in job roles that will both help the employee professionally, and the company's capacity to achieve business objectives. Talent retention supports achieving company business objectives because internal employees' intention to stay shows their commitment to the company (Aljbour et al., 2021; Badshah & Bulut, 2020; Houssein et al., 2020; Mtethwa, 2019; Yildiz & Esmer, 2021). Senior leaders who understand and implement these TM strategies may reduce internal employees' decisions to leave the company to advance their careers.

Implications for Social Change

Employee career advancement can increase job performance and job satisfaction (Bourini et al., 2019). The career advancement of an employee can affect their perspective and behavior about how they think about themselves, and how they make contributions to communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, or societies they identify with. This implication for social change is the result of employees growing professionally and building their skill sets at a company they enjoy working for. Senior leaders who perform the five TM strategies in this study can help employees positively contribute to the company and their communities.

The value of the information provided by the six senior leaders in this study offers a benefit to communities and the economy. Employees often seek career advancement to sustain a living wage. Employees who achieve their career goals often become role models for others (Andresen et al., 2020). Employees may also become mentors to aspiring professionals in their communities. This knowledge may also benefit others

needing career guidance. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for senior leaders to develop talent management strategies to help their employees contribute financially to their families and support the job market of the communities where their companies are located.

Recommendations for Action

After exploring the TM strategies used by six senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies, I propose three specific recommendations for action. Senior leaders should (a) understand their direct role in the career advancement of internal employees, (b) create a team talent plan, and (c) collaborate with the HR department about filling open positions. These recommendations for action should be gradually introduced at corporations to ensure successful implementation. Gradual introduction can allow senior leaders to analyze each strategy's effectiveness to review the impact on retaining talented employees and the impact on meeting business objectives.

The first recommendation for action is for senior leaders to understand they have a direct role in the career advancement of internal employees. The study results disclosed that a senior leader's role is to (a) build a one-on-one relationship with employees to understand their career path, (b) accurately evaluate job performance and inquire about job satisfaction, (c) develop employees professionally and personally through company training or online programs, and (d) advocate for employees to be hired in job roles that align with their talents and can benefit the organization.

The second recommendation is for senior leaders to create a team talent plan. This talent plan should include each employee's talent development and career goals. Aside

from the hiring process, senior leaders should document the talents an employee possesses. Senior leaders can use the team talent plan to help them determine the role they play in advancing the careers of their employees in the organization.

The third recommendation for action is for senior leaders to collaborate with the HR department about filling open positions. When senior leaders have an open position on their team, they should collaborate with the HR department to identify talented internal employees who are ready to advance their careers. Filling open positions at companies can become more about recruiting internal employees versus hiring external talent.

The study findings provide senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies with TM strategies they can use to improve how they advance the careers of internal employees. I intend to disseminate the findings of this study at corporate training and development events, leadership conferences, and research symposiums. I plan to publish the findings in the Human Resource Management Journal, Journal of Career Development, and other online publications that provide information about TM strategies and career advancement.

Recommendations for Further Research

Recommendations for further research would be to expand or focus on the exploration of TM strategies senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use for internal employee career advancement. The majority of participants in this study were from various Fortune 500 company industries located in the Midwest region of the United States. I would recommend a research study on a specific Fortune 500 company in a

specific area to provide more insight into the TM strategies senior leaders use to advance employee careers. For example, a future research study may want to focus on the TM strategies senior leaders use in the industrial industry for internal employee career advancement. Although this study provides knowledge on the different types of TM strategies senior leaders use, the first theme identified as providing mentorship indicated several subthemes that I did not identify in the literature review. Recent literature suggests there is more research suggesting networking and diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) as key TM strategies to help employees advance their careers (Iyer, 2022; Schechter, 2020). The two limitations of the study were (a) senior leaders may not be able to share company information or practices, and (b) senior leaders may have time constraints on their availability for an interview. These limitations can be addressed by a single case study with one Fortune 500 company to (a) receive approval to provide more internal company documentation and (b) ask company leaders to make their senior leaders more available for interviews.

Reflections

My doctoral journey can be described with one word: willpower. I had to have the willpower to complete each milestone of the journey and remember my goal was to become a Doctor of Business Administration. My doctoral journey occurred during a global pandemic, and I was confined to my home, which was depressing. The coursework of the program was also time-consuming and sometimes I felt overwhelmed working full-time and running a business. As a best-selling author who writes self-help books, I thought writing would be easy but writing this doctoral study was the most difficult

written work I have ever undertaken. I had to learn how to become an academic writer by thoroughly researching peer-reviewed articles to confirm my writing approach. I am now aware of how to support my writing with several resources. I was also able to build a support team that helped me persevere along my doctoral journey and that included an alumnus of the DBA program, a peer mentor in the DBA program, and my student advisor. Each individual was supportive and encouraged me on the pros and cons to finish my doctoral study. It was important to have a team of people who understood the DBA program to guide me as I pursued my goal. I reflected on the guidance they provided me as I researched articles, interviewed participants, and wrote the three sections of my doctoral study.

Working previously as a leader at a Fortune 500 company, I felt there were limited TM strategies that senior leaders used to help advance the careers of internal employees. My experience and preconceived ideas did not affect interviewing participants as I learned about the TM strategies they used by accurately capturing their responses using the interview protocol to avoid personal bias. This research study changed my thinking about how senior leaders lack TM strategies to advance the careers of internal employees. I am now aware that there are senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies who are passionate about employees' career growth and will support employees with specific TM strategies.

Conclusion

Senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies can advance the careers of internal employees. A qualitative multiple case study was used, and data was collected from six

senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies in the Midwest region of the United States who have successfully used TM strategies to advance the careers of internal employees. The findings of this study indicated five major themes that can help internal employees with career advancement: (a) provide mentorship, (b) conduct one-on-one meetings, (c) create individual development plans, (d) encourage continuing education, and (e) provide internal job shadowing. Advancing the careers of internal employees also relies on the leadership behaviors of senior leaders, as identified by the path-goal theory. The results of this study may illustrate how senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies who lack TM strategies can use the TM strategies from this study to manage career advancement for their internal employees.

References

- Abioro, M. A., Olabisi, J., Onigbinde, I. O., & Adedeji, A. M. (2020). Skill mapping, talent pool management and organisational development: Evidence from professional bodies in Nigeria. *Economics and Business*, *34*(1), 46–59. https://doi.org/10.2478/eb-2020-0004
- Adeniji, A. A., Osibanjo, A. O., Salau, O. P., Falola, H. O., Igbinoba, E. E., Ohunakin, F., & Ogueyungbo, O. (2019). Competence model for measuring career development and organisational growth in the health sector. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 20, 246–258. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2019.24
- Adoli, H. L., & Kilika, J. M. (2020). Conceptualizing the role of leadership strategy in the context of strategic management process: A review of literature. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 3(4), 1598–1623. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1992.03.04.307
- Aguinis, H., & Burgi-Tian, J. (2021). Talent management challenges during COVID-19 and beyond: Performance management to the rescue. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, 24(3), 233-240. https://doi.org/10.1177/23409444211009528
- Aguinis, H., & Solarino, A. M. (2019). Transparency and replicability in qualitative research: The case of interviews with elite informants. *Strategic Management Journal*, 40(8), 1291–1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3015
- Al-Shatti, E., & Ohana, M. (2021). Impression management and career related outcomes:

 A systematic literature review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.701694

- Al Aina, R., & Atan, T. (2020). The impact of implementing talent management practices on sustainable organizational performance. *Sustainability*, *12*(20), 8372. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12208372
- Ali, Z., Mahmood, B., & Mehreen, A. (2019). Linking succession planning to employee performance: The mediating roles of career development and performance appraisal. *Australian Journal of Career Development*, 28(2), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1177/1038416219830419
- Aljbour, A., French, E., & Ali, M. (2021). An evidence-based multilevel framework of talent management: A systematic review. *International Journal of Productivity* and Performance Management, 71(8), 3348–3376. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-02-2020-0065
- Almaaitah, M.F., Alsafadi, Y., Altahat, S.M., & Yousfi, A.M. (2020). The effect of talent management on organizational performance improvement: The mediating role of organizational commitment. *Management Science Letters*, 2937–2944. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.4.012
- Andresen, M., Apospori, E., Gunz, H., Suzanne, P. A., Taniguchi, M., Lysova, E. I.,
 Adeleye, I., Babalola, O., Bagdadli, S., Bakuwa, R., Bogićević Milikić, B., Bosak,
 J., Briscoe, J. P., Cha, J.-S., Chudzikowski, K., Cotton, R., Dello Russo, S.,
 Dickmann, M., Dries, N., ... Zikic, J. (2020). Careers in context: An international study of career goals as mesostructure between societies' career-related human potential and proactive career behaviour. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 30(3), 365–391. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12247

- Ansar, N., & Baloch, A. (2018). Talent and talent management: Definition and issues.

 *IBT Journal of Business Studies, 14(2), 213–230.

 https://doi.org/10.46745/ilma.jbs.2018.14.02.14
- Ashraf, M. A. (2019). The mediating role of work atmosphere in the relationship between supervisor cooperation, career growth and job satisfaction. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 31(2), 78-94. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-12-2017-0113
- Azizi, M. R., Atlasi, R., Ziapour, A., Abbas, J., & Naemi, R. (2021). Innovative human resource management strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic narrative review approach. *Heliyon*, e07233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07233
- Badshah, W., & Bulut, M. (2020). Onboarding—the strategic tool of corporate governance for organizational growth. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, *59*(3), 319–326.
- Bagdadli, S., & Gianecchini, M. (2019). Organizational career management practices and objective career success: A systematic review and framework. *Human Resource Management Review*, 29(3), 353-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2018.08.001
- Baig, S. A., Iqbal, S., Abrar, M., Baig, I. A., Amjad, F., Zia-ur-Rehman, M., & Awan, M. U. (2019). Impact of leadership styles on employees' performance with moderating role of positive psychological capital. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 32(9-10), 1085-1105.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2019.1665011
- Bartz, D. E. (2019). Organization members directing their career development. *Journal of Education and Human Development*, 8(1), 43–47.

- https://doi.org/10.15640/jehd.v8n1a6
- Bell, G. R., & Rosowsky, D. V. (2021). On the importance of mentorship and great mentors. *Structural Safety*, 91, 102076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.strusafe.2021.102076
- Belur, J., Tompson, L., Thornton, A., & Simon, M. (2021). Interrater reliability in systematic review methodology: Exploring variation in coder decision-making. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 50(2), 837–865.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118799372
- Benson, G. S., McIntosh, C. K., Salazar, M., & Vaziri, H. (2020). Cultural values and definitions of career success. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *30*(3), 392–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12266
- Blake-Beard, S., Shapiro, M., & Ingols, C. (2021). A model for strengthening mentors: Frames and practices. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6465. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126465
- Bonneton, D., Schworm, S. K., Festing, M., & Muratbekova-Touron, M. (2019). Do global talent management programs help to retain talent? A career-related framework. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *33*(2), 203–238. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1683048
- Boštjančič, E., & Slana, Z. (2018). The role of talent management comparing medium-sized and large companies—major challenges in attracting and retaining talented employees. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01750
- Bourini, I., Jahmani, A., Mumtaz, R., & Al-Bourini, F. A. (2019). Investigating the

- managerial practices' effect on employee-perceived service quality with the moderating role of supportive leadership behavior. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 25(1), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2018.11.001
- Braun, S., Hernandez Bark, A., Kirchner, A., Stegmann, S., & Van Dick, R. (2019).

 Emails from the boss—curse or blessing? Relations between communication channels, leader evaluation, and employees' attitudes. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 56(1), 50–81.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488415597516
- Brook, O., O'Brien, D., & Taylor, M. (2020). "There's no way that you get paid to do the arts": Unpaid labour across the cultural and creative life course. *Sociological Research Online*, 25(4), 571–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1360780419895291
- Bryson, J. (2015). Faster, easier, more impactful research. *Marketing Insights*, 27(5), 14–15. https://www.ama.org/publications/MarketingInsights/Pages/faster-easier-impactful-research.aspx
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. Harper and Row.
- Busari, A. H., Khan, S. N., Abdullah, S. M., & Mughal, Y. H. (2019). Transformational leadership style, followership, and factors of employees' reactions towards organizational change. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, *14*(2), 181–209. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-03-2018-0083
- Capitano, J., Mishra, V., Selvarathinam, P., Collins, A., & Crossett, A. (2021). How long are newcomers new in different occupations? *Organization Management Journal*,

- 19(3), 110–123. https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-10-2020-1054
- Chawla, C., & Agarwal, M. (2021). An acute review of talent management in workplace.

 **Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and Government, 27(3), 793–798.

 https://doi.org/10.47750/CIBG.2021.27.03.111
- Claus, L. (2019). HR disruption—Time already to reinvent talent management. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, 22(3), 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2019.04.002
- Crews, E.-R., Brouwers, M., & Visagie, J. C. (2019). Transformational and transactional leadership effects on communication styles. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 29(5), 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2019.1675996
- Cross Walker, T. (2020). Inclusive talent management in the public sector: Theory and practice. *Transnational Corporations Review / Kuaguo Gongsi*, *12*(2), 140–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/19186444.2020.1741296
- Crowley-Henry, M., & Al Ariss, A. (2018). Talent management of skilled migrants:

 Propositions and an agenda for future research. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(13), 2054–2079.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1262889
- Crowley-Henry, M., Benson, E., & Al Ariss, A. (2019). Linking talent management to traditional and boundaryless career orientations: Research propositions and future directions. *European Management Review*, *16*, 5–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12304
- De Block, D., & Vis, B. (2019). Addressing the challenges related to transforming

- qualitative into quantitative data in qualitative comparative analysis. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 13(4), 503–535.
- De Boeck, G., Meyers, M. C., & Dries, N. (2018). Employee reactions to talent management: Assumptions versus evidence. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(2), 199–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2254

https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689818770061

- Delle, E., & Searle, B. (2020). Career adaptability: The role of developmental leadership and career optimism. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(2), 269–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845320930286
- Deshwal, V., & Ashraf Ali, M. (2020). A systematic review of various leadership theories. *Shanlax International Journal of Commerce*, 8, 38–43. https://doi.org/10.34293/commerce.v8i1.916
- Dokony, H. A. I., Singh, J. S. K., & Arumugam, D. T. (2020). The influence of leadership behaviors based on the path-goal theory towards employees' satisfaction in a developing nation. A study in the telecommunication sector in N'Djamena, Chad. *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation*, 24(2), 1324–1336. https://doi.org/10.37200/IJPR/V24I2/PR200432
- Ehrenberg, M. (2021). Back to the future: Changing business priorities have accelerated trends and are driving fundamental shifts in the structure and approach to corporate real estate outsourcing. *Corporate Real Estate Journal*, *10*(2), 195–215. https://blueskyre.com/back-to-the-future/
- Enoch, A., & Mohana, P. (2021). A study on mentoring and their influence on protege's

- career development in information technology (IT) sector, Chennai. *European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine*, 7(9), 1974–1995.
- Epitropaki, O., Marstand, A. F., Van der Heijden, B., Bozionelos, N., Mylonopoulos, N., Van der Heijde, C., Scholarios, D., Mikkelsen, A., Marzec, I., Jedrzejowicz, P., & The Indicator Group. (2020). What are the career implications of "seeing eye to eye"? Examining the role of leader–member exchange (LMX) agreement on employability and career outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, 74(4), 799–830. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12432
- Essman, S. M., Schepker, D. J., Nyberg, A. J., & Ray, C. (2021). Signaling a successor?

 A theoretical and empirical analysis of the executive compensation-chief executive officer succession relationship. *Strategic Management Journal*, 42(1), 185–201. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3219
- Fareed, M., Ahmad, A., Salleh, S. S. M. M., Noor, W. S. W. M., & Isa, M. F. M. (2022). What makes human resource professionals effective? An exploratory lesson from techno-based telco firms of a developing country. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.774165
- Farndale, E., Morley, M. J., & Valverde, M. (2019). Talent Management: Quo Vadis?

 **BRQ Business Research Quarterly, 22(3), 155–159.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2019.06.001
- Federici, E., Boon, C., & Den Hartog, D. N. (2021). The moderating role of HR practices on the career adaptability—job crafting relationship: A study among employee—manager dyads. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*,

- 32(6), 1339–1367. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1522656
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gallardo-Gallardo, E., Thunnissen, M., & Scullion, H. (2020). Talent management: context matters. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(4), 457–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1642645
- Gray, D., De Haan, E., & Bonneywell, S. (2019). Coaching the 'ideal worker': female leaders and the gendered self in a global corporation. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(7/8), 661-681.https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-01-2019-0011
- Glaister, A. J., Karacay, G., Demirbag, M., & Tatoglu, E. (2018). HRM and performance—
 The role of talent management as a transmission mechanism in an emerging
 market context. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 28(1), 148–166.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12170
- Griffith, J. A., Baur, J. E., & Buckley, M. R. (2019). Creating comprehensive leadership pipelines: Applying the real options approach to organizational leadership development. *Human Resource Management Review*, 29(3), 305–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2018.07.001
- Gupta, A., & Briscoe, F. (2020). Organizational political ideology and corporate openness to social activism. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 65(2), 524–563. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839219852954

- Harsch, K., & Festing, M. (2020). Dynamic talent management capabilities and organizational agility—A qualitative exploration. *Human Resource Management*, 59(1), 43–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21972
- Hathaway, T. (2020). Neoliberalism as corporate power. *Competition & Change*, 24(3-4), 315–337. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024529420910382
- Henkel, T., & Bourdeau, D. (2018). A field study: An examination of managers' situational leadership styles. *Journal of Diversity Management (JDM)*, 13(2), 7–14. https://doi.org/10.19030/jdm.v13i2.10218
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1969). Management of organizational behavior: Utilizing human resources. *Academy of Management Journal*, *12*(4), 526. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.1969.19201155
- Hirschi, A., & Koen, J. (2021). Contemporary career orientations and career self-management: A review and integration. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 126, 103505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103505
- Hitka, M., Kucharčíková, A., Štarchoň, P., Balážová, Ž., Lukáč, M., & Stacho, Z. (2019).
 Knowledge and human capital as sustainable competitive advantage in human resource management. Sustainability, 11(18), 4985.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/su11184985
- Hoang, G., Wilson-Evered, E., & Lockstone-Binney, L. (2019). Leading innovation among tourism small and medium enterprises: Examining the mediating role of climate for innovation. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(5), 647–666. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-08-2018-0287

- House, R. (1971). A path goal theory of leader effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 16(3), 321–339. https://doi.org/10.2307/2391905
- House, R. J. (1996). Path-goal theory of leadership: Lessons, legacy, and a reformulated theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 7(3), 323–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(96)90024-7
- House, R. J., & Mitchell, T. R. (1975). Path-goal theory of leadership. *Washington University*.
- Houssein, A. A., Singh, J. S. K., & Arumugam, T. (2020). Retention of employees through career development, employee engagement and work-life balance: An empirical study among employees in the financial sector in Djibouti, East Africa. *Global Business & Management Research*, 12(3), 17–31.
- Huang, S. (2019). The impact of coaching leadership on in-role performance of employees—Based on the perspective of social information processing theory.
 Open Journal of Social Sciences, 7(12), 223–237.
 https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2019.712017
- Husband, G. (2020). Ethical data collection and recognizing the impact of semistructured interviews on research respondents. *Education Sciences*, 10(8), 206. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10080206
- Huttunen, R., & Kakkori, L. (2020). Heidegger's theory of truth and its importance for the quality of qualitative research. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, *54*(3), 600–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12429
- Inkpen, A. C., & Sundaram, A. K. (2021). The endurance of shareholder value

- maximization as the preferred corporate objective. *Journal of Management Studies*, 59(2), 555–568. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12715
- Iyer, A. (2022). Understanding advantaged groups' opposition to diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) policies: The role of perceived threat. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 16(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12666
- Jaiswal, A., Arun, C. J., & Varma, A. (2021). Rebooting employees: Upskilling for artificial intelligence in multinational corporations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 33(6), 1179–1208. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1891114
- Jayaraman, S., Talib, P., & Khan, A. F. (2018). Integrated talent management scale:

 Construction and initial validation. *Sage Open*, 8(3).

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018780965
- Johnson, K. R., Huang, T., & Doyle, A. (2019). Mapping talent development in tourism and hospitality: A literature review. *European Journal of Training and Development*. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-03-2019-0047
- Jooss, S., McDonnell, A., Burbach, R., & Vaiman, V. (2019). Conceptualising talent in multinational hotel corporations. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(10), 3879–3898. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2018-0849
- Jose, S. (2019). Innovation in recruitment and talent acquisition: A study on technologies and strategies adopted for talent management in IT sector. *International Journal of Marketing and Human Resource Management*, 10(2), 1–8.

- https://doi.org/10.34218/IJMHRM.10.3.2019.001
- Kabwe, C., Tripathi, S., Thomas, P., McArdle, L., & Saundry, R. (2020). My talent or yours? A labour process analysis of talent management in practice. *Competition & Change*, 24(2), 178–199.
 https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1024529419848647
- Kähkönen, T., Blomqvist, K., Gillespie, N., & Vanhala, M. (2021). Employee trust repair: A systematic review of 20 years of empirical research and future research directions. *Journal of Business Research*, *130*, 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.03.019
- Kasdorf, R. L., & Kayaalp, A. (2021). Employee career development and turnover: A moderated mediation model. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 30(2), 324–339. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-09-2020-2416
- Kharadze, N., Paichadze, N., & Paresashvili, N. (2019). General trends of business career management. *European Journal of Economics and Business Studies*, *5*(1), 153–177. https://doi.org/10.26417/ejes.v5i1.p153-177
- Khattak, M. N., Zolin, R., & Muhammad, N. (2020). Linking transformational leadership and continuous improvement. *Management Research Review*, *43*(8), 931–950. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2019-0268
- Kichuk, A., Brown, L., & Ladkin, A. (2019). Talent pool exclusion: The hotel employee perspective. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(10), 3970–3991. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2018-0814
- Kilson, G. (2021). Career opportunities in the hotel industry: The perspective of hotel

- management undergraduate's students from the city of São Paulo. *Marketing & Tourism Review*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.29149/mtr.v6i1.6438
- King, K. A., & Vaiman, V. (2019). Enabling effective talent management through a macro- contingent approach: A framework for research and practice. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, 22(3), 194–206.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2019.04.005
- Köhler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2019). Feature topic for ORM: Templates in qualitative research methods. *Organizational Research Methods*, 22(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428118805165
- Kragt, D., & Day, D. V. (2020). Predicting leadership competency development and promotion among high-potential executives: The role of leader identity. *Frontiers* in *Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01816
- Kremer, H., Villamor, I., & Aguinis, H. (2019). Innovation leadership: Best-practice recommendations for promoting employee creativity, voice, and knowledge sharing. *Business Horizons*, 62(1), 65–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.08.010
- Lagat, C., & Makau, M. S. (2018). Management development: A conceptual framework based on literature review: A research agenda. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 56(1), 65–76.
- Lam, L., Nguyen, P., Le, N., & Tran, K. (2021). The relation among organizational culture, knowledge management, and innovation capability: Its implication for open innovation. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and*

- Complexity, 7(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7010066
- Lambert, S. (2020). Emotional awareness amongst middle leadership. *Journal of Work-Applied Management*, 12(2), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWAM-02-2020-0009
- Leroy, H., Buengeler, C., Veestraeten, M., Shemla, M., & J. Hoever, I. (2021). Fostering team creativity through team-focused inclusion: The role of leader harvesting the benefits of diversity and cultivating value-in-diversity beliefs. *Group & Organization Management*, 47(4), 798–839.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10596011211009683
- Li, Z., Yang, Y., Zhang, X., & Lv, Z. (2021). Impact of future work self on employee workplace well-being: A self-determination perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 2512. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.656874
- Liao, S., Zhou, X., Guo, Z., & Li, Z. (2019). How does leader narcissism influence employee voice: The attribution of leader impression management and leader-member exchange. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(10), 1819. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16101819
- Lin, L., Cai, X., & Yin, J. (2021). Effects of mentoring on work engagement: Work meaningfulness as a mediator. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 25(2), 183–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12210
- Liu, S., Lucy Liu, X., Wang, H., & Wang, Y. (2021). Humble leader behavior and its effects on performance at the team and individual level: A multi-perspective study. *Group & Organization Management*, 47(5), 1008–1041.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/10596011211024429
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2019). The development of goal setting theory: A half century retrospective. *Motivation Science*, *5*(2), 93. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/mot0000127
- Løvaas, B. J., Jungert, T., Van den Broeck, A., & Haug, H. (2020). Does managers' motivation matter? Exploring the associations between motivation, transformational leadership, and innovation in a religious organization. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 30(4), 569–589. https://doi.org/10.1002/nml.21405
- Magombo-Bwanali, N. (2019). Relationship between leader behaviours and subordinates' work performance: The context of tax administration. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science* (2147-4478), 8(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i1.180
- Mangion-Thornley, K. (2021). Coaching in the context of talent management: An ambivalent practice. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching & Mentoring*, (S15), 4–19. https://doi.org/10.24384/dkvw-da37
- Meyers, M. A., Woerkom, M. V., Paauwe, J. & Dries, N. (2020). HR managers' talent philosophies: Prevalence and relationships with perceived talent management practices, *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(4), 562–588. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1579747
- Mitosis, K. D., Lamnisos, D., & Talias, M. A. (2021). Talent management in healthcare:

 A systematic qualitative review. *Sustainability*, *13*(8), 4469.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084469

- Mtethwa, T. N. (2019). Human resource transformation as a strategy for addressing talent management challenges at ESwatini electricity company [Doctoral dissertation, University of Kwazulu-Natal]. ResearchSpace. https://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/handle/10413/18074
- Mustofa, A., & Muafi, M. (2021). The influence of situational leadership on employee performance mediated by job satisfaction and Islamic organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science* (2147-4478), 10(1), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v10i1.1019
- Napathorn, C. (2020). How do MNCs translate corporate talent management strategies into their subsidiaries? Evidence from MNCs in Thailand. *Review of International Business and Strategy*, *30*(4), 537–560. https://doi.org/10.1108/RIBS-04-2020-0043
- Ngan, H. F. B., & Tze-Ngai Vong, L. (2019). Hospitality employees' unrealistic optimism in promotion perception: Myth or reality? *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *18*(2), 172–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1558480
- Noyes, J., Booth, A., Moore, G., Flemming, K., Tunçalp, Ö., & Shakibazadeh, E. (2019). Synthesising quantitative and qualitative evidence to inform guidelines on complex interventions: clarifying the purposes, designs and outlining some methods. *BMJ Global Health*, 4(Suppl 1). http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000893
- Nyberg, A. J., Shaw, J. D., & Zhu, J. (2021). The people still make the (remote work-)

- place: Lessons from a pandemic. *Journal of Management*, *47*(8), 1967–1976. https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063211023563
- O'Connor, C., & Joffe, H. (2020). Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: Debates and practical guidelines. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919899220
- Otto, S., Dekker, V., Dekker, H., Richter, D., & Zabel, S. (2021). The joy of gratifications: Promotion as a short-term boost or long-term success—The same for women and men? *Human Resource Management Journal*, 32(1), 151–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12402
- Painter, M. M., Kirk, S., Deslandes, G., & Tansley, C. (2019). Talent management: The good, the bad, and the possible. *European Management Review*, *16*(1), 135–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12171
- Paiuc, D. (2021). The impact of cultural intelligence on multinational leadership: A semantic review. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, *9*(1), 81–93. https://doi.org/10.2478/mdke-2021-0006
- Pandita, D., & Ray, S. (2018). Talent management and employee engagement a metaanalysis of their impact on talent retention. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 50(4), 185–199. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-09-2017-0073
- Peltokorpi, V., & Michel, J. (2021). The moderating effect of core self-evaluations between the relationships of work–family conflict and voluntary turnover, job promotions and physical health. *Stress and Health*, *37*(1), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2982

- Petry, T., Treisch, C., & Peters, M. (2021). Designing job ads to stimulate the decision to apply: A discrete choice experiment with business students. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *33*(15), 3019–3055. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1891112
- Phaladi, M., & Ngulube, P. (2022). Mitigating risks of tacit knowledge loss in stateowned enterprises in South Africa through knowledge management practices. *South African Journal of Information Management*, 24(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/sajim.v24i1.1462
- Pirzada, Z. A., Mahar, S. A., Diou, N. A., Memon, T., & Shah, W. (2021). Talent management: Association in problems of it. *International Journal of Management*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.34218/IJM.12.1.2021.104
- Price-Dowd, C. F. J. (2020). Your leadership style: why understanding yourself matters.

 BMJ Leader*, 4, 165–167. https://doi.org/10.1136/leader-2020-000218
- Ramli, A. A., Isa, A., Baharin, N. L., & Ibrahim, H. I. (2018). The role of talent management in the relationships between employee engagement: A study of GLCs. *MATEC Web of Conferences*, *150*, 05060. https://doi.org/10.1051/matecconf/201815005060
- Rana, R., K'aol, G., & Kirubi, M. (2019). Influence of supportive and participative path-goal leadership styles and the moderating role of task structure on employee performance. *International Journal of Research in Business & Social Science* 8(5), 76–87. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i5.317
- Rasheed, M. I., Okumus, F., Weng, Q., Hameed, Z., & Nawaz, M. S. (2020). Career

- adaptability and employee turnover intentions: The role of perceived career opportunities and orientation to happiness in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, *44*, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.05.006
- Raza, S. A., & Sikandar, A. (2018). Impact of leadership style of teacher on the performance of students: An application of Hersey and Blanchard situational model. *Bulletin of Education & Research*, 40(3), 73–94.
- Reimer, M., Van Doorn, S., & Heyden, M. L. M. (2018). Unpacking functional experience complementarities in senior leaders' influences on CSR strategy: A CEO-top management team approach. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *151*(4), 977–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3657-5
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. B. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC medical research methodology*, *19*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Rofcanin, Y., Las Heras, M., Jose Bosch, M., Stollberger, J., & Mayer, M. (2020). How do weekly obtained task i-deals improve work performance? The role of relational context and structural job resources. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 30(4), 555–565.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2020.1833858
- Saldaña, J. (2014). Thinking qualitatively: Methods of mind. Sage.

 Saldaña, J. (2021). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.

- Samanta, I., & Eleni, P. (2021). Talent management to improve employee competence: A qualitative study. *Annals of Contemporary Developments in Management & HR* (ACDMHR), 3(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.33166/ACDMHR.2021.01.001
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). Research methods for business students (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Schechter, D. J. (2020). Career transitions in the digital age: Mastering the art of communicating career direction clarity. [Doctoral dissertation, Georgia State University]. ScholarWorks. https://doi.org/10.57709/18701005
- Seidel, A., Saurin, T. A., Tortorella, G. L., & Marodin, G. A. (2019). How can general leadership theories help to expand the knowledge of lean leadership? *Production Planning & Control*, *30*(16), 1322–1336. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2019.1612112
- Shet, S. V. (2021). Leadership: making an impact, inspiring organization, and getting to the next level. *Human Resource Development International*, 24(2), 234–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2020.1732732
- Shet, S. V. (2020). Strategic talent management-contemporary issues in international context. *Human Resource Development International*, 23(1), 98–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2019.1650324
- Sibunruang, H., & Kawai, N. (2021). Promoting career growth potential: Political skill, the acquisition of social resources and ingratiation. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2021.25
- Signori, S., San-Jose, L., Retolaza, J. L., & Rusconi, G. (2021). Stakeholder value

- creation: Comparing ESG and value added in European companies. Sustainability, 13(3), 1392. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13031392
- Soltani, E., & Wilkinson, A. (2020). TQM and performance appraisal: Complementary or incompatible? *European Management Review*, 17(1), 57–82.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12317
- Sousa, M. J., & Rocha, Á. (2019). Leadership styles and skills developed through game-based learning. *Journal of Business Research*, *94*, 360–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.057
- Sparrow, P. (2019). A historical analysis of critiques in the talent management debate.

 BRQ Business Research Quarterly, 22(3), 160–170.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2019.05.001
- Staniec, I., & Kalińska-Kula, M. (2021). Internal employer branding as a way to improve employee engagement. *Management*, 19(3), 33–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.04
- Steinmann, B., Klug, H. J., & Maier, G. W. (2018). The path is the goal: How transformational leaders enhance followers' job attitudes and proactive behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02338
- Subrahmanyam, S. (2019). Global leadership development: A phenomenological study.

 *International Journal of Social Sciences & Educational Studies, 5(4), 101–111.

 https://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v5i4p101
- Sujana, C. M. (2020). Contractor project manager leadership style based on path goal theory to support construction sustainability. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and*

- Environmental Science, 426(1), 012007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/426/1/012007
- Sulistiyanto, F., & Murtini, H. (2018). Determinants of internal auditor performance through knowledge management with organizational culture as moderating.

 Accounting Analysis Journal*, 7(3), 183–191.

 https://doi.org/10.15294/aaj.v7i3.22631
- Sullivan, S. E., & Al Ariss, A. (2021). Making sense of different perspectives on career transitions: A review and agenda for future research. *Human Resource*Management Review, 31(1), 100727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2019.100727
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- The U.S. Bureau of Labor and Statistics. (2021, October 8). *The employment situation—*September 2021. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/empsit.nr0.htm
- Theys, N. A., & Schultz, C. M. (2020). A qualitative perspective of talent management.

 *Journal of Contemporary Management, 17(1), 64–85.

 https://doi.org/10.35683/jcm19111.56
- Tyskbo, D. (2019). Competing institutional logics in talent management: talent identification at the HQ and a subsidiary. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(10), 2150–2184. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1579248
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical

- principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

 Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- van Harten, J., de Cuyper, N., Knies, E., & Forrier, A. (2021). Taking the temperature of employability research: A systematic review of interrelationships across and within conceptual strands. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 31(1), 145–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2021.1942847
- Vera, D., Samba, C., Kong, D. T., & Maldonado, T. (2020). Resilience as thriving: The role of positive leadership practices. *Organizational dynamics*, 50(2), 100784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100784
- Vuong, B. N., Duy Tung, D., Hoa, N. D., Chau, N. T. N., & Tushar, H. (2020). An empirical assessment of organizational commitment and job performance:
 Vietnam small and medium-sized enterprises. *Journal of Asian Finance*, *Economics and Business*, 7(6), 277–286.
 https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no6.277
- Walsh, L. C., Boehm, J. K., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2018). Does Happiness Promote Career Success? Revisiting the Evidence. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 26(2), 199–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717751441
- White, C. (2018). Challenging traditional research assumptions: Critical qualitative research in social/global education. *Internationalizing Education*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004364622_001
- Whysall, Z., Owtram, M., & Brittain, S. (2019). The new talent management challenges

- of Industry 4.0. *Journal of Management Development*, *38*(2), 118–129. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-06-2018-0181
- Widodo, W., & Mawarto, M. (2020). Investigating the role of innovative behavior in mediating the effect of transformational leadership and talent management on performance. *Management Science Letters*, 10(10), 2175–2182. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.3.019
- Wohlin, C. (2021). Case study research in software engineering—It is a case, and it is a study, but is it a case study? *Information and Software Technology*, *133*, 106514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infsof.2021.106514
- Yagüe-Perales, R. M., Pérez-Ledo, P., & March-Chordà, I. (2021). Analysing the impact of the glass ceiling in a managerial career: The case of Spain. *Sustainability*, *13*(12), 6579. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126579
- Yildiz, R. Ö., & Esmer, S. (2021). Talent management related concepts and debates in container shipping industry by an emerging market perspective. *Journal of Shipping and Trade*, 6(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41072-021-00090-6
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Sage.
- Yoon, H. J., Chang, Y. L., Sadique, F., & Al Balushi, I. (2021). Mechanisms for hopeful employee career development in COVID-19: A hope-action theory perspective.

 Advances in Developing Human Resources, 23(3), 203–221.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/15234223211017848
- Yousefi Nooraie, R., Sale, J. E., Marin, A., & Ross, L. E. (2020). Social network

- analysis: An example of fusion between quantitative and qualitative methods. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *14*(1), 110–124.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689818804060
- Zafar Sheikh, A., Saleem Butt, A., Hussain, B., & Timmons, S. (2021). Dodgy labour market dichotomy: The repercussions of sneaky labour intermediaries on employees' constitutional rights. *Labor History*, 62(1), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/0023656X.2020.1864308
- Zeijen, M. E., Petrou, P., Bakker, A. B., & van Gelderen, B. R. (2020). Dyadic support exchange and work engagement: An episodic test and expansion of self-determination theory. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 93(3), 687–711. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12311
- Zhang, M., Wang, F., Weng, H., Zhu, T., & Liu, H. (2021). Transformational leadership and perceived overqualification: A career development perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.597821
- Zhou, Z. E., Eatough, E. M., & Wald, D. R. (2018). Feeling insulted? Examining end-of-work anger as a mediator in the relationship between daily illegitimate tasks and next-day CWB. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *39*(8), 911–921. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2266

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol

Specific Business Problem

The specific business problem is that some senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies lack TM strategies to manage career advancement for their internal employees.

Research Question

What TM strategies do senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees?

Primary Research Goal

My goal is to understand what TM strategies senior leaders use to manage the careers of internal employees, and which of these TM strategies are working or not working. Additionally, I want to understand how a leader's behavior affect managing employee careers.

Participant Criteria

Participants (a) must be a senior leader at a Fortune 500 company in the Midwest region of the United States, and (b) must successfully use TM strategies to manage the careers of internal employees.

Participant Identification

The name of each participant and name of Fortune 500 company will be confidential. To protect participants privacy, I will label participants with (a) the letter P, and (b) the number in which they are interviewed. For example, P1 will be used to identify a participant.

Participant Background Questions

- 1. What is your job title?
- 2. How long have you been in your job role?
- 3. How long have you been with this company?
- 4. What is the total number of employees on your team?
- 5. What is your highest level of degree?

What you will do	What you will say—script
This column contains	This column contains what you will say to the participant
what the researcher will	as you proceed through the interview. Note—that one will
be doing in addition to	add probing questions as appropriate.

asking the interview questions.	
Introduce the interview and set the stage—often over a meal or coffee.	Hi (interviewee). I really appreciate you taking the time to meet with me today. As noted in our introductory virtual meeting, I am Kimberly Burke, a doctoral candidate at Walden University. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore the TM strategies that senior leaders at Fortune 500 companies use to manage career advancement for their internal employees. This interview will be recorded, and I will be taking detailed notes. As a reminder, your participation is confidential, and you have the right to withdraw from this study at any time. Do I have your permission to proceed with this interview?
Reminders that you should do during the interview.	Interview Questions1. What are some TM strategies you have implemented that have proven to be effective in advancing your employees' careers?2. To what extent do you focus your TM strategies on
Watch for nonverbal cues.	developing employees to their full potential to meet their career goals?
 Paraphrase as needed Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in-depth data. 	3. What key challenges have you experienced in implementing TM strategies for employee career advancement?
	4. How did you address the key challenges you experienced in implementing TM strategies for employee career advancement?
Remember that qualitative researchers need deep and rich data. A one sentence short answer to the	5. What knowledge have you gained about TM strategies from current employees who foresee advancing their careers at your company?
	6. How, if at all, have you adapted or changed your TM strategies to support employees in the pursuit of their career goals?
interview question may provide superficial data at best.	7. What additional information would you like to share concerning how you manage the careers of your employees using TM strategies?
Again, probe, probe,	

probe. Metaphorically dig deep for rich data. Wrap up interview thanking participant.	Those are all the questions I have for you. Again, thank you for participating in this interview.
Schedule follow-up member checking interview.	The next step is for me to summarize the results of this study. I will send you an interview transcript in the next 2 days for your review. You will have 5 days to review the interview transcript before our next scheduled member checking interview. During the member checking interview, we will discuss each question and response so you can verify my interpretation of your responses. As a reminder, I will share my final research findings with you. Do you have any questions?